
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Friday, 23 September, 2016

10.00 am

Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone





AGENDA

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Friday, 23 September, 2016, at 10.00 am Ask for: Theresa Grayell
Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, 
Maidstone

Telephone 03000 416172
Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the meeting 

Membership 

Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mrs Z Wiltshire (Vice-Chairman), Ms H Carpenter, 
Mrs T Carpenter, Mrs P T Cole, Mr S Collins, Mr T Doran, Ms S Dunn, Ms S Dunstan, 
Mr S Gray, Mr S Griffiths, Ms B Haskins, Mr A Heather, Mrs S Howes, Ms N Khosla, 
Mr G Lymer, Ms D Marsh, Mrs C Moody, Mr B Neaves, Mr P Segurola, Ms B Taylor, 
Mr M J Vye, Mrs J Whittle and one vacancy (Virtual School Kent shared seat)
The Chairman will assume that all Members will read the reports before attending the 
meeting.  Officers are asked to assume the same when introducing reports.

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open the public)

A1 Membership - to note that two new members have joined the Panel: 
Ms Diane Marsh, to fill the County Council  vacancy left by the recent death of 
Robert Brookbank; and Andy Heather, the County Council’s Principal 
Educational Psychologist.

A2 Apologies and substitutes 

A3 Minutes of the meeting of this Panel held on 20 July 2016 (Pages 5 - 14)

A4 Chairman's Announcements 

A5 Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 

A6 Verbal Update by Cabinet Member 

B.  ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION
B1 Fostering Service Independent Review (Pages 15 - 56)



B2 Kent Adoption Service - Annual Report 2015/2016 (Pages 57 - 82)

B3 Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children update (Pages 83 - 90)

B4 Performance Scorecard for Children in Care (Pages 91 - 100)

EXEMPT ITEMS
(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 

which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public)

Peter Sass
Head of Democratic Services 
03000 416647

Thursday, 15 September 2016

Please note that any background documents referred to in the accompanying papers 
maybe inspected by arrangement with the officer responsible for preparing the relevant 
report.



KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

MINUTES of a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in Darent Room, 
Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Wednesday, 20 July 2016.

PRESENT: Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mrs Z Wiltshire (Vice-Chairman), 
Mrs T Carpenter, Mrs P T Cole, Mr S Collins, Ms M Emptage (Substitute for Ms S 
Dunn), Mr S Gray, Mrs S Howes, Ms N Khosla, Mr G Lymer, Mrs C Moody, 
Mr B Neaves, Mr P Segurola, Ms B Taylor, Mr M J Vye and Mrs J Whittle

ALSO PRESENT: Mr P J Oakford

IN ATTENDANCE: Ms G O'Grady (Participation Co-ordinator, Specialist Children's 
Services) and Miss T A Grayell (Democratic Services Officer)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

As the Chairman had been delayed, the Vice-Chairman presided over the first 
part of the meeting 

155. Membership 
(Item A1)

The Panel noted that Mrs S Howes had joined the Panel in place of Ms C J Cribbon. 

156. Apologies and Substitutes 

Apologies for absence had been received from Mr R E Brookbank, Ms H Carpenter, 
Mr T Doran, Ms S Dunn, Ms S Dunstan, Mr S Griffiths and Ms B Haskins. 

Ms M Emptage was present as a substitute for Ms S Dunn. 

157. Minutes of the meeting of this Panel held on 26 May 2016 
(Item A3)

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Panel meeting held on 26 May 2016 are correctly 
recorded and they be signed by the Chairman. There were no matters arising.  

158. Announcements 
(Item A4)

1. The Vice-Chairman welcomed Mr Collins and Mr Gray to their first meeting of 
the Panel. 

2. A flyer had been tabled for ‘Party in the Park’, which would take place on 25 
August in Sandwich. Panel Members were invited and asked to contact the organiser 
if they wished to attend. 

Page 5

Agenda Item A3



3. The Panel was advised that Sarah Skinner had taken up a new post as the 
Head of the County Council’s Adoption Service, and Caroline Smith had taken up the 
post of Head of the Fostering Service. The Panel was pleased to hear that these key 
posts were both now filled. 

159. The MOMO (Mind Of My Own) app as a tool for engagement with young 
people in care 
(Item 1)

1. Ms O’Grady presented a series of slides which set out the content and role of 
the MOMO (Mind Of My Own) app. Examples of the screen layout and content 
showed the information that young people could record on the app and how this 
recording linked into and helped them prepare for care reviews and other meetings.  
A related app called MOTO (Mind Of Their Own) was to be launched in December 
2016 for younger and disabled children, and the content and layout of this was also 
displayed. Ms O’Grady demonstrated use of the app, using the combination of click 
options and free-text fields and showing the range of information covered, including 
young people’s feelings and wishes, likes and dislikes, fears and concerns. She 
reassured the Panel that the app had been tested by the County Council’s IT team 
and that information entered on it was secure. Information entered could not be 
saved to a smartphone; it could only be accessed via a mobile phone, tablet or 
computer.  A young person could choose to whom they wished to send the entered 
data, for example, their social worker or independent reviewing officer (IRO), and 
could see when the information had been read by them.    

2. Ms O’Grady then presented an activity report which set out patterns of use, 
summarised the range and type of issues that young people chose to record using 
the app, and examples of entries, as well as the views of professionals.  This 
information had been gathered from the period during which the app had been piloted 
in Kent. Although the app was used by many other local authorities, Kent had won an 
award for the speed at which it had adopted it, and most feedback from young people 
about it had been positive. There were, however, a few things still to be addressed: 
the facility to translate to and from other languages, the fact that tablets used by IROs 
and social workers were not all internet accessible, and the fact that some young 
people did not have internet access.  

3. Ms O’Grady responded to comments and questions from the Panel, as 
follows:- 

a) it was sad to see on the overview of points raised that relationships were 
placed below school on the list of ‘likes’; 

b) the growing popularity of MOMO as a tool may lead to a whole new 
workload for social workers and IROs, in terms of the time needed to read 
and respond to the posts sent to them, as acknowledgements and replies 
would need to be sent quickly;

c) assurances about the security of the app and the data entered were 
welcomed.  The app could be accessed on a smartphone but data would 
not be saved on the SIM card, and young people, social workers and IROs 
would need to log in to access information.  In this way, the app was as 
safe as any other computer system.  Young people could choose to send 

Page 6



the information to another third party but would have to type in an email 
address to send to, so the risk of accidental sending was minimised, and 
social workers and IROs receiving the information would be able to see 
where else it had been sent.  Ms O’Grady reassured the Panel that any 
young person considered to be particularly at risk of online ‘grooming’ or 
inappropriate contact would not be offered the use of MOMO;

d) inconsistency of reception and broadband speed across the county may 
mean that young people in some areas were less able to access and use 
the app; 

e) adoption of the MOMO app was a major step in the right direction in 
allowing young people in care to record and communicate, in their own 
words, their feelings, hopes and fears, and allowed social workers and 
IROs to access this information as a useful lead-in to discussing these 
issues with young people and preparing for their review meetings. Ms 
O’Grady explained that, as a way of reflecting on feelings and expressing 
concerns, MOMO was a useful tool for a young person to use, as and 
when they felt they wanted to. They could vent about a bad day and make 
negative comments as a way of expressing anger, upset and frustration, 
but could then choose not to send the record to anyone, using it instead as 
a private release mechanism.  Ms O’Grady reassured the Panel that a 
young person would never be pushed to share anything they did not wish 
to share, or feel ready to talk about, whether by using MOMO or in a face-
to-face meeting; 

f) foster carers on the Panel welcomed the use of MOMO as being much 
better than forms or surveys for gleaning the views of young people, and its 
roll out was supported.  The advent of MOTO was welcomed as this would 
be particularly useful for disabled children. Ms O’Grady explained that the 
use of both apps would be covered in foster carer workshops and training;

g) in response to a question about the extent to which Kent could model the 
content of the app, Ms O’Grady explained that the questions and sections 
used were designed to reflect the nine elements of the pathway plan. 
Feedback on the MOMO app could be submitted to its creators, so 
although it was not a bespoke product, it was adaptable.  Mr Segurola 
added that Kent was seeking to add ‘immigration status’ to the ‘key 
anxieties’ option from which young people could choose; and 

h) in response to a question about other organisations subscribing to the 
MOMO app, Ms O’Grady explained that the County Council’s initial license 
covered everyone with an ‘…@kent.gov.uk’ email address, but she 
undertook to look into the possibility of adding staff from other 
organisations, such as the Young Lives Foundation, who provided 
advocacy services to young people.  

4. RESOLVED that the information on the MOMO app set out in the presentation 
and given in response to comments and questions be noted, with thanks. 

The Chairman took the Chair at this point 

Page 7



160. Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 
(Item A5)

1. Ms B Taylor gave a verbal update on recent work undertaken by the 
participation team on behalf of the OCYPC and the Children in Care Council (CICC).

Super Council, OCYPC and Young Adults Council (YAC):
 Promotion work in East Kent was going on and membership and attendance at 

meetings were gradually increasing.  Participation in North and West Kent was 
still positive and there were plans to establish a South Kent group in October. 

 The Super Council had chosen a winning logo in bright primary colours, which 
was shown to the Panel. 

 At the most recent Super Council meeting, Members had been asked to write 
down eight things which they loved about their placement and the family they 
lived with. 

 At the most recent OCYPC meeting, young people expressed to Naintara 
Khosla their feelings about their placements. It was decided that there should 
be a new feedback forum, run by young people for young people, and work 
was starting on setting this up, possibly by including the use of MOMO.  

 It had come to light that pledge cards and business cards were still not being 
distributed to young people. Mr Segurola undertook to ensure that this was 
addressed and that Independent Reviewing Officers (IROs) specifically 
addressed this issue in children in care reviews.

 A presentation by the Young Lives Foundation on advocacy had been very 
well received, and young people had said they felt confident that they were 
adequately informed about this service. 

 Work was progressing on a DVD to address the issues of stigma felt by young 
people coming into care and of the stereotypical view that many people had of 
children and young people in care.  Each participant was asked to describe 
themselves in three words, none of which related to their care status, and 
these descriptions would shape the film’s content. 

 Following the meeting, a discussion highlighted that many young people taking 
part did not feel confident in contributing to discussions.  Some of the most 
experienced previous participants at the OCYPC had since moved on to the 
YAC. To address the issue, the subject of the August meeting would be a 
discussion around the purpose of the OCYPC and the importance of voicing 
opinions.  

 The most recent YAC meeting had been replaced with a summer barbecue, at 
which young people could network and meet new friends.

Challenge Cards:
 One outstanding challenge was the issue of savings accounts for young 

people in care.  An update on this issue would be made at the Panel’s next 
meeting.  

Page 8



Planned Summer Activities:
 A list of activities in July and August was circulated to the Panel.  These 

activity days covered all areas of the county and a range of sports, creative 
and cultural activities, some negotiated at no cost or very low cost. An art 
competition with the theme ‘the Garden of England’ would also be run by Mr 
Segurola. 

 Sponsorship for the Thames Bridge Trek taking place on 10 September had 
been slow in coming forward. The team needed to raise a minimum of £1,000 
to take part in the event, and Panel members were asked to support the event 
by using the justgiving page. 

Participation and Engagement Team updates:
 Sarah Skinner had left VSK to become the new Head of Adoption.

 Reece Graves had started work in June and was working towards a level 2 
qualification in business and admin.

 Amelia Kury would be leaving the VSK team in September to take up a role 
outside the County Council in recruitment. 

 Three new apprentices would start work in September but it was not yet clear 
where in the county they would be based. 

Other activity:
 Work to support the summer activity programme.

 Work on the art competition and stigma DVD, mentioned above.

 Participation in interview panels. 

 Recruitment and training days for the Recruit Crew, which was growing well. 

 Work to support participation workshops.

 Re-design of the newsletter with the County Council communications team.

 Regional work with the office of the Children’s Commissioner to support local 
authorities’ Children In Care Councils. 

 Work to introduce the Kent Children’s University Passport to OCYPC 
members aged 7 - 11. This involved Saturday attendance at a range of local 
businesses to contribute to collecting stamps on a ‘passport’ of experience, 
which would lead to ‘graduation’ when the passport was full. Companies 
currently taking part included Halfords, Pets at Home, Asda and Sainsbury’s.

 Work with Gemma O’Grady on a range of projects.

2. Ms Taylor responded to comments and questions from the Panel, as follows:-

Page 9



a) in response to a question about the stigma DVD being included in training 
for foster carers, Ms Taylor explained that the project was currently at an 
early stage and its use for this purpose had not been considered, but she 
undertook to look into possibilities.  She reassured the Panel that young 
people taking part in the film would not be identifiable;

b) adding more detail about the Kent Children’s University Passport project, 
Ms Taylor explained that businesses would teach young people useful 
skills.  For instance, Halfords would teach them how to change a bicycle 
tyre and Pets at Home would teach them how to care for a range of 
different pets.  Participation in the project would have the benefit of building 
confidence and gaining skills which could contribute to future career 
choices.  More businesses across the county were being encouraged to 
sign up to the project and contribute time and resources to hosting young 
people;

c) Members sought reassurance on progress made in respect of the issue of 
savings accounts and pocket money.  Ms Khosla advised that a new policy 
had been issued to all Kent County Council foster carers in June which set 
out guidance on the proportion of the maintenance allowance that should 
be set aside for pocket money and savings.  Children needed to be made 
aware of the new policy and resourcing entitlements; and

d) on 22 July, the Young Lives Foundation, Catch 22 and others were to 
attend a meeting of foster carers to talk about support issues around 
leaving care.
   

3. The verbal updates were noted, with thanks. 

161. Verbal Update by Cabinet Member 
(Item A6)

1. Mr P J Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s Services, gave a 
verbal update on the following issues:-

Visited Children’s Centres in the Ashford and Swale areas  
Visited Children’s Centres in the Thanet area with a local GP to explore how 
specialist children’s services and health could integrate and work more closely 
together in using children’s centre facilities. 
Children’s Centres Working Group – this group had recently been established with 
officers from Property, Public Health and Early Help services to ensure that optimum 
use was being made of children’s centres premises, both in terms of the services 
based there and the number of days per week on which the premises were used, to 
achieve best use of public money.  For instance, in Tonbridge, the youth centre and 
children’s centre previously occupied two separate buildings but had combined to 
share the space and make full use of the children’s centre building.
A recent County Council Member briefing on child sexual exploitation had been 
well attended.
Unaccompanied asylum seeking children (UASC) national dispersal scheme – 
two recent meetings at the Home Office had addressed the need for and the 
establishment of a national dispersal system for UASC. It was disappointing that the 
scheme was still voluntary rather than mandatory, and that, of the 12 other local 

Page 10



authorities which had indicated a willingness to help, only West Sussex had 
ultimately come forward to take a maximum of 15 UASC from Kent.  If the Home 
Office calculation of the ideal maximum population of UASC as a percentage of the 
overall population of a local authority were applied, it would mean that Kent should 
have no more than 300 UASC, yet it currently had three times that number. Monthly 
arrival rates were much lower than for the summer of 2015 but the 30 or so UASC 
arriving each month still had considerable impact on accommodation, policing, health 
and education services.  Mr Oakford said he would write to the new Immigration 
Minister and seek further meetings to continue to lobby for a mandatory national 
dispersal scheme.  

2. Mr Collins told the Panel of a recent incident in which a member of staff at 
Tonbridge children’s centre had had her staff identity pass card stolen outside the 
building, which effectively gave the thieves access to all areas of the premises.  
Another Panel member reported that, in the past, people had pretended to be health 
visitors to try to gain access to staff-only premises.  The foster carers on the Panel 
complained that staff kept identity badges on in their homes when visiting their foster 
children, and at meetings, for instance at school, which marked them out as being 
officials visiting a child in care. 

3. RESOLVED that the verbal updates be noted, with thanks.

162. Progress report - Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning Strategy 
2015 - 2018 
(Item B1)

Mr T Wilson, Head of Children’s Strategic Commissioning, was in attendance for this 
item. 

1. Mr Wilson introduced the report and Mr Segurola responded to comments and 
questions from the Panel, as follows:-

a) disruptions to education caused by change of placement, and the number 
of young people in care with  part-time timetables, were both areas of 
national concern.  Young people who were not productively occupied could 
become disruptive and drift into anti-social or criminal behaviour. Mr 
Segurola confirmed that the data collated by the Management Information 
Unit confirmed that too many children in care were not attending school full 
time, and that many were attending Pupil Referral Units (PRUs).  Ms 
Emptage added that addressing the issue of young people out of school 
was part of a larger piece of work to tackle the number of NEETs (those 
not in education, employment or training), in which schools would be held 
to account for pupils who were not on-roll in year 11. Young people should 
be dually-registered with the school and the PRU; 

b) the recent Select Committee on Grammar Schools and Social Mobility had 
highlighted the importance of children in care achieving five good GCSEs, 
including English and maths, to be able to compete equally in the 
employment market; 

c) the recent appointment of an out-of-area placement officer was welcomed. 
Mr Segurola suggested that the Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 

Page 11



Services send a letter to the Children’s Commissioner to re-assert the 
pressures on education places and other services caused by high numbers 
of children being placed in Kent by other local authorities, beyond the 20 
mile limit from their family homes;

d) a foster carer outlined an example in which a child who had been excluded 
from school had been taken back into school on the direction of the Virtual 
School Kent.  Young people missing school were also missing the 
opportunity to develop social skills; and

e) a view was expressed that it would be better for a young person to be 
attending a PRU, where they would at least have an opportunity to access 
vocational courses, than to be out of the education system completely.  

2. RESOLVED that progress made on implementing the Sufficiency, Placements 
and Commissioning Strategy 2015-2018 be noted, with thanks. 

163. Placement Stability Report 
(Item B2)

Ms V Best, Data Analyst, Management Information Unit, was in attendance for this 
item.

1. Ms Khosla introduced the report and highlighted the parallels between this and 
the previous item in terms of the range of factors affecting placement stability. Pre-
placement work by social workers would seek to identify children who were most at 
risk of placement breakdown and would prepare in advance to help the placement, 
once made, to be as stable as possible.  Careful matching of a child and a foster 
carer would be part of this preparation. Although statistics for placement breakdown 
were improving, young people over 14 and with those with ‘hard to manage’ 
behaviour (for instance, going missing) were still areas of concern. In such cases, 
VSK’s equivalent of Education Welfare Officers would seek a meeting with carers to 
seek to support them in starting to address issues. 

2. Ms Best introduced the appended report of statistics on those children who 
had had three or more placements, in a range of profiles, including age, gender, 
disability, asylum status, time in care and placement type. 

3.  Ms Best and Mr Segurola responded to comments and questions from the 
Panel, as follows:-

a) a foster carer commented that the team dealing with foster carers of 
disabled children were quicker than the mainstream fostering team to 
respond to reported problems; this may be because they worked with fewer 
foster carers. Mr Segurola advised that maintaining workforce stability was 
a challenge; 

b) a question was raised about the effect that a child’s adoption status might 
have on the stability of their foster placement. Some children, knowing they 
were not later to move into the adoption process, might settle better into 
their foster placements than those who knew they would be leaving their 
foster placement to enter the adoption process;

Page 12



c) for some children experiencing three or more changes of placement, those 
changes were planned and welcomed, so the number of changes was not 
necessarily a problem.  Coping with planned and expected changes was 
always easier, both for the child and their foster carer;

d) Mr Segurola advised that statistics showed that children placed with in-
house foster carers experienced fewer changes of placement than those 
placed with foster carers from independent fostering agencies; and 

e) Mr Segurola and Ms Khosla responded to a question about the number of 
cases of, and the process for, a child being returned to their birth family.  
Regular meetings with the Judiciary sought to ensure that such decisions 
were made carefully and addressed any and all concerns which had been 
raised. Mr Segurola assured the Panel that, in cases in which there was 
any ongoing concern, managers would push for them to go back to court 
for further consideration.

4. RESOLVED that the areas for development and the proposed actions to 
improve placement stability be endorsed. 

164. Overview of the Laming Review - 'In care, out of trouble' 
(Item B3)

Dr J Maiden-Brooks, Policy Adviser, and Mr M Powell, Improvement Manager, were 
in attendance for this item. 

1. Dr Maiden-Brooks and Mr Powell introduced the report and responded to 
comments and questions from the Panel, as follows:- 

a) the Laming review had looked into the over-representation of children in 
care in the judicial system and had made a number of recommendations, 
and one of the findings had been that the corporate parenting role of local 
authorities needed to be strengthened; 

b) the 2014 Kent and Medway Joint Protocol, between the Youth Offending 
Service, social workers and Kent Police, and its impact, particularly upon 
foster carers and children’s homes, would need to be evaluated. Also, the 
unnecessary criminalisation of young people should be avoided, by 
carefully assessing the need for police involvement; 

c) concern was expressed that many young people who came to the attention 
of the police had mental health problems, which would not be helped by 
spending time in police cells, and this would also place extra pressure on 
their foster carers. Mr Powell advised that any vulnerable young person 
detained at a police station would always be accompanied in interviews by 
an appropriate adult, and it was clarified that a young person would not be 
placed in a cell but in a detention room with an appropriate adult; and 

d) a view was expressed that the way in which children and young people in 
care were reported as missing could be reviewed.  To report someone too 
early could waste police time. Some children were known to have a habit of 

Page 13



going away from their foster family for a while to recover from an argument 
or to take some time to themselves to think, so surely in some cases it was 
wise to wait a while before involving the police. Some young people did not 
respect or accept the authority of the police, so to involve them 
unnecessarily could exacerbate the situation. Mr Segurola explained the 
way in which missing children were viewed by police. If a child was not at 
their home when they should be, they counted as ‘missing’, even if they 
were visible nearby within the neighbourhood.  A view was expressed, 
however, that, if a child was not reported missing and something then 
happened to them, there would be questions about why nothing was done 
sooner, so a cautious approach was needed. Mr Powell added that, after a 
disappearance, the reasons for it would be identified so patterns of 
behaviour could be borne in mind when dealing with any future 
disappearance.

2. Dr Maiden-Brooks suggested that it would be useful to revisit the Laming 
report once other current reviews had finished and reported, so each could be seen 
in the context of the others.  This was agreed and an item added to the work 
programme for a future meeting. 

3. RESOLVED that the information set out in the report and given in response to 
comments and questions be noted, with thanks. 

165. Tribute to Jane Cribbon 

The Chairman paid tribute to Jane Cribbon, noting how sad it was to lose someone 
who had been so devoted to children’s welfare and development, both as a member 
of the Corporate Parenting Panel and as a County Councillor.  Jane’s constructive 
contribution to the work of the Panel was always highly valued and would be very 
much missed.  

Page 14



From: Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services 

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health 
and Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 23 September 2016

Subject: FOSTERING SERVICE INDEPENDENT REVIEW

Classification: Unrestricted 

Electoral Division: All

Summary: The Independent Fostering Review was requested by the Corporate 
Parenting Select Committee in February 2016 to ensure that the standard of foster 
care provision is safe and adequately meets the needs of Looked After Children in 
the care of Kent foster carers.

The report considers the Kent Fostering Service and the standard of service delivery 
in the county.  The review was conducted by independent practice leads Sally Pillay 
and Sania Khan, who were part of the Tri Borough Team, which achieved an 
outstanding Ofsted grade for fostering and adoption services.  The review was to 
support learning from outstanding practitioners and create opportunities for Kent to 
develop its fostering services.  The full report is attached as Appendix 1. 

The fostering review considered all areas of fostering practice, including the 
recruitment and assessment of foster carers, which was considered good; area 
support fostering teams and their supervision of foster carers, which requires 
improvement; the management of duty systems and the matching of children to their 
placements, which reflect inconsistencies across the county.  Feedback was sought 
from the Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) service, Virtual School Kent (VSK), 
Kent Foster Care Association (KFCA), fostering social workers, foster carers and 
also from children and young people, who were very impressive.

The key areas for improvement have been incorporated into a Fostering Service 
Business Plan, attached as Appendix 2, and this has been shared across all the 
services and teams to support service developments.  

Required Outcomes
The Fostering Service, led by the Head of Service for Fostering, will ensure there is 
progress on the areas identified for improvement in the Fostering Service Business 
Plan.  Key areas identified in the review include fostering team managers having 
greater oversight of practice and this to be evidenced through supervision. The 
management of allegations against foster carers requires improved recording of 
decision making, to evidence timescales and outcomes. The review identified that 
there were efficiencies to be made in the panel processes, for DBS checks, where 
there was delay in their receipt, and also to reduce bureaucracy in the length of 
reports for permanency matching and Connected Person foster carers assessments. 
(Connected Persons are family/friends who are assessed to be carers specifically for 

Page 15

Agenda Item B1



a child placed by the Local Authority.) These changes will be led by the Head of 
Fostering and supported by the area teams.  The service should also ensure that 
staff participate in the development of policies, particularly that they contribute to the 
sufficiency and recruitment strategy.

Recommendation(s): Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
CONSIDER the contents of the Fostering Review and ENDORSE the Fostering 
Service Business Plan.

1. Introduction

1.1 The review of the Specialist Children’s Services Fostering Service was 
undertaken by external reviewers at the request of the Assistant Director, 
Corporate Parenting.

1.2 The Fostering Service provides care for children and young people covering a 
vast geographical area and offers a variety of placement options, including 
temporary, permanent and respite care, depending on the needs and 
circumstances of the child or young person.  The service is also responsible for 
recruiting, assessing, supporting and delivering duty services to all foster carers 
and connected person’s carers. 

1.3 The focus of the review, as agreed with the Assistant Director, was undertaken 
over a three day period and covered the following key areas:

 Recruitment and Assessment of Foster Carers 
 Duty, Supervision and Support to Foster Carers
 Quality Assurance 
 Workforce Development

1.4 The review was undertaken by two independent practitioners who had led the 
Tri-Borough in achieving an Ofsted grade of Outstanding in fostering and 
adoption services in 2016.  The Council’s Fostering Service hoped to gain from 
the knowledge and expertise of practitioners who had been through an Ofsted 
and had achieved excellence.  The reviewers were thorough in their 
assessment of the work the Fostering Service undertake across Kent and were 
able to provide practice guidance to staff and managers, increasing their 
understanding of the need to evidence their decision making, management 
oversight and ensuring purposeful recording.  They were able to visit teams and 
meet with staff across the service.  The reviewers considered a number of 
documents, including the sufficiency and recruitment strategy, training and 
development programme, annual reviews of foster carers and a number of case 
files, including information on 100 case audits.

2. Body of the report

2.1 Recruitment and assessment of foster carers was assessed.  This was an area 
that the reviewers believed to be good and evidenced clarity of purpose with 
timeliness of intervention.  The recruitment strategy is comprehensive and 
effective as the performance data reflects that there is a steady flow of new 
carers approved by the team throughout the year.

Page 16



2.2 The programme of supervision and signs of safety training that is on offer will 
further develop the routine supervision to be more reflective and analytical.

2.3 There are monthly support team meetings which the assessment team 
members attend and share information about placement needs.  This is good 
practice and supports understanding placement needs and sufficiency.  The 
placements duty team captures good qualitative data on the sufficiency of 
placements and this informs the sufficiency strategy; however, this information 
should be shared with staff so they are involved in the development of the 
sufficiency strategy.  Staff should be aware of the information and the process 
by which the sufficiency strategy is prepared.  Staff commented that they did not 
feel involved enough in the building or contributing to the overall recruitment or 
sufficiency strategy. 

2.4 The review team was able to observe the fostering duty process within two 
teams. The identified area for development is to review the consistency of duty 
across the service. This is to ensure that decision making and matching 
information for placements is available and up to date and every team follows 
the same duty processes. 

2.5 Feedback from foster carers was mainly positive.  The focus group was 
attended by a range of carers with different levels of fostering and life 
experience.  Most of the foster carers rated their support as good. They said 
that social workers were experienced, flexible and easy to talk with.  There does 
need to be a focus on newly-approved carers to ensure they receive the support 
they require and in supporting foster carers to express dissatisfaction or 
complain if necessary.  Foster carers appreciate the training on offer and would 
like more information on the new finance system.  Overall, the foster carers are 
an asset to the Council and believe they are part of a good service that benefits 
children.

2.6 The significant area for focus and improvement in the Fostering Service is 
management oversight and supervision.  This must be evidenced on files to 
ensure that there is clear direction on the practice and social workers are 
supported in their role and responsibilities.    A quality assurance framework 
and regular auditing of cases is now in place and is leading to significant 
practice improvements.

2.7 Feedback from children and young people was welcomed and it was reassuring 
that the issues of placement stability and delegated authority were already 
being addressed by the service.  This had been identified as an area for 
Children in Care teams to focus on with fostering team colleagues.  The 
completion of the delegated authority is required as part of all new placements 
made and the paperwork in Liberi is being reviewed and updated to support the 
social work practice.

3. Conclusions

3.1 The reviewers collated evidence of social work practice for fostering across the 
Council. This included reviewing case files to consider the standard of social 
work practice, observe fostering panels and discuss with staff their work.  They 
also met and talked to children and young people and to foster carers.

Page 17



3.2 In addition, the reviewers were keen to understand that the Fostering Service 
knew how well it was performing and was clear about what needed to change to 
drive forward performance improvement.

3.3 In the view of the reviewers, the Council is not currently delivering the 
requirements of a good Fostering Service.   In considering the grade, the 
reviewers judged the Authority to be one that requires improvement - measured 
through the Ofsted criteria. 

3.4 It should be noted that there are no widespread or serious failures that create or 
leave children at risk of being harmed.  The welfare of Looked After Children is 
safeguarded and promoted.  Minimum requirements are in place.  It should also 
be noted that there are areas of excellent practice within recruitment and 
assessment, in the support from VSK and KFCA, which are all areas that can 
be built on and where experienced staff can disseminate good practice and 
promote a learning culture within the wider fostering service.

3.5 The reviewers noted that Kent is a vast county and could develop its potential 
by building on its community of foster carers.  The Fostering Service is ideally 
placed to challenge the Independent Fostering Agency (IFA) sector that is very 
active within its boundaries as well as implement a creative and very innovative 
model of foster care services.  This will be led by the newly appointed Head of 
Fostering. 

4. Recommendations

4.1 Recommendation(s):  Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
CONSIDER the contents of the Fostering Review and ENDORSE the Fostering 
Service Business Plan.

5. Background Documents

None

6. Author details

Lead Officer
Naintara Khosla – Assistant Director, Corporate Parenting
03000 422241
Naintara.Khosla@kent.gov.uk

Lead Director
Philip Segurola
Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 18

mailto:Naintara.Khosla@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk


 Appendix 1 

Fostering Service Review

Kent County Council

13th – 15th June 2016

Sally Pillay, Head of Tri-Borough Fostering & Adoption Service

Sania Khan, Consultant Social Worker

Page 19



1. Background 

This report has been prepared as an external review of the Fostering Services within 
Children and Family Services’ Department at the request of the Assistant Director, 
Corporate Parenting, Kent County Council.

Fostering Services provides care for children and young people covering a vast 
geographical area and offers a variety of placement options including permanent, 
temporary and respite care depending on the needs and circumstances of the child 
or young person. 

The service is also responsible to recruit, assess, support and deliver duty services 
to all foster carers and connected person’s carers.

2. Scope and Objectives 

The focus of this review as agreed with the Assistant Director was undertaken over a 
three day period and covered the following key areas.
 
1.Recruitment and Assessment of Foster Carers 
2.Duty Supervision and Support to Foster Carers
3.Quality Assurance 
4.Workforce Development

The fostering service and quality assurance and safeguarding unit audited in excess 
of 100 cases from the across the fostering service.  The independent reviewers 
analysed the outcomes of the above case audits, randomly selected cases in each of 
the above categories to bench mark the service’s capacity to self-assess and 
thereafter completed case discussions with social workers. This enabled the 
reviewing officers to compile a list of themes to support the future development of the 
service.

Additional information was gathered from other sources and included essential 
documents such as the recruitment strategy, assessment reports, the carers training 
and development plans, annual reviews, attendance at two panels and a range of 
service users (children and foster carers) as well as partners in practice, namely the 
virtual school, Kent foster carers association, Independent reviewing officers, service 
managers and observation of practice in real time.

3. Findings and Recommendations

The Reviewing Officers identified many positives which will be highlighted in the body 
of the report; however the following are of particular note.

The recently appointed Assistant Director and the new Head of Fostering are 
ambitious for the service and have already started to implement changes that are 
leading to improved practice and will further develop the services for children and 
young people who are looked after.  

Page 20



Staff at all levels are engaged with the new leadership and are appreciative of the 
renewed focus on fostering.  Most of the staff we met said that they felt valued and 
supported by KCC. They enjoy their work and were committed to children.

Similarly the foster carers and children who participated in the focus groups did so 
with enthusiasm and passion. Indeed they are a credit to KCC.

3.1 Recruitment of Foster Carers

The fostering service was restructured in 2012 to improve the efficiency of the 
service and to ensure that local children’s teams worked closely with fostering 
services by bringing them under a local service manager who is responsible for both 
the children’s team and fostering service.

Recruitment and assessment of foster carers is undertaken by two central teams who 
are also responsible for assessing connected person’s carers, these are directly 
managed by the Head of Fostering. 

The recruitment strategy is comprehensive and effective as the performance data 
reflects that there is a steady flow of new carers approved by the team throughout 
the year. There are monthly support team meetings which the assessment team 
members attend and share information about placement needs.  This is good 
practice and supports understanding placement needs and sufficiency.  

The placements duty team captures good qualitative data on the sufficiency of 
placements and this informs the sufficiency strategy; however this information should 
be shared with staff so they are involved in the development of the sufficiency 
strategy.  Staff should be aware of the information and the process by which the 
sufficiency strategy is prepared.  Staff confirmed that they were not involved in 
building or contributing to the overall recruitment or sufficiency strategy. Pulling the 
data and intelligence from the different points of the fostering service will lead to a 
more sophisticated strategy.
 
We were very impressed with the knowledge and level of experience of the workers 
in the recruitment and assessment team.  They were positive about their work, 
clearly enjoyed working in this area of fostering, spoke positively of the support they 
received from management and were keen to contribute to the overall improvement 
of fostering services.
Assessments reviewed were completed in timescales, there was clear evidence of 
both workers and managers tracking and monitoring progress in this regard.  Case 
files reviewed had evidence of supervision notes and workers confirmed that they 
received regular supervision and an appraisal of their performance for 2016. 

Staff reported that they received regular supervision, felt valued, enjoyed their work 
and were clearly delivering on their performance targets.  While supervision was 
taking place regularly, the notes only described what the workers fed into the 
discussion as opposed to adding value or enabling the assessor to reflect on their 
assessments or promote enhanced practice. The programme of supervision and 
signs of safety training that is on offer will further develop the routine supervision to 
be more reflective and analytical.

Recommendations 

Page 21



 Create a feedback loop between the different service points to enable a 
better and more relevant recruitment strategy that will create sufficiency.

 A regular feedback loop to be used to discuss sufficiency and consult and 
include staff when the sufficiency strategy is being updated.  

 A review of the approval criteria for foster carers will enhance the process 
of pulling the right carers through and reduce the number applicants 
dropping out later in the process thus leading to improved efficiencies. 

 To add value to both the supervision and appraisal process the written 
format for capturing supervision should be reviewed.  Support managers to 
enhance their supervision skills through training on reflective supervision 
practice.

3.1.1. Connected Persons 

The assessment of connected person’s foster carers is held within the generic 
fostering recruitment service and the assessment of special guardianship is 
undertaken within the children social work teams. Upon approval the connected 
person’s foster carers are supported within the generic fostering support teams. A 
clear Friends and Family Policy is available on Kent County Council’s website that 
covers different care options and support available.

The audit of connected person’s carers did not reveal any themes that were notable. 

The assessment template used to assess connected carers is lengthy and creates 
additional work for the assessing social workers. The length of the report does not 
necessarily add value to the assessment as the same information could be captured 
in a more succinct and concise format.

Recommendations 
 Review the assessment format to include information that supports the service, 

panel and ADM to make an informed judgement about the approval of a specific 
carer for a specific child. 

 Review the practice and the statutory guidance in relation to allegations against 
professionals with the view to improve practice, the quality and outcomes of the 
investigation.

3.2 Duty Supervision and Support

3.2.1Duty

The review team were able to observe two duty teams in action. 

The knowledge and skills observed reflected social workers who were competent and 
capable.  There was one social worker who was particularly impressive.  He was 
keen, had good knowledge of the available resources and has good oversight of the 
challenges and demands on placement resources. 

The electronic spreadsheet embedded within the data system also enables the 
service to update vacancies and capture qualitative information, including reasons for 
placements with external providers.  The vacancy list (range and number of carers) 
available for placements was high which meant that in theory more placements 
should and ought to be made with vacant in-house approved carers. However the 

Page 22



practice proved very different as we found that the decision making process to agree 
a match was far more complicated and relied on the fostering social worker’s 
agreement to proceed as opposed to the expertise of the duty worker in making the 
most suitable match. In essence when a carer is on a vacancy list, the carer should 
be able to accept any placement deemed to be a suitable match. Unfortunately the 
duty worker was observed to be “waiting” for agreement from the supervising social 
worker before confirming a placement while simultaneously fielding anxious phone 
calls from the child’s social worker requiring confirmation of the placement match. 
This created an unnecessary extra step and delays for the children’s team. 
We observed some complicated processes in the decision making and IT 
arrangements for making and ending placements and they cut across team and 
geographical boundaries. The fostering duty team needs to have greater control over 
the vacancy list to make robust use of resources when considering potential 
placement matches.
This would need some consideration by the Head of Fostering so that efficiencies 
can be achieved.

Recommendations
 The offices should deliver duty using the same systems, resources and 

practice. This creates consistency for staff and for foster carers.  This is part of 
the work plan of the Head of Fostering ensuring that there is priority given 
across the county to the systems and resources for placement duty.

3.2.2. Support

The best test to determine how carers experience the support they receive is via their 
feedback which we captured during the focus group. The focus group was attended 
by a range of carers with different levels of fostering and life experience.  

Most of the foster carers rated their support as good. They said that social workers 
were experienced, flexible and easy to talk with. They valued the training they 
received as it gave them a good opportunity to develop their skills and felt reassured 
and valued by KCC.  They particularly enjoyed the days out and events hosted by 
KCC.

Carers felt proud of the many opportunities that children enjoyed and the fact that 
their birth children were made to feel part of the process. The group also felt a great 
sense of achievement especially when children moved to permanent families or had 
successful outcomes like access to higher education.

An area for engagement is with new carers who reported frequent changes of social 
workers and expressed their wish for consistency in their support.  They did not have 
the same confidence with their supervising social workers and reported they thought 
they were overworked.

Training 
The newly approved carers benefit from a block of five support groups. The support 
group is very well facilitated and had a good balance of structure, information and the 
support element. It was well attended and the carers were observed to participate 
fully. A range of topics were covered which were led by the facilitators and the carers.

Page 23



A TRP model of training is highly valued by both professionals and carers alike. The 
level of support and training including monthly network meetings, blocked 
placements (no under 16 in the household), access to specialist support groups and 
training is having a positive impact.

There are no weekend or evening training options available to foster carers. 
Consideration could be given to delivering training in the evening or weekends to 
support short break carers or respite carers.

Complaints 
The carers were reticent about making formal complaints and were unsure of the 
response they would receive from social workers.

We did not request information on complaints, compliments but did have a brief 
oversight of a case that had passed to the Independent Review Mechanism.  
Therefore it is difficult to assess the extent to which carers are using the complaints 
process that is in place. 

The foster carers will benefit from having some training around the complaints 
procedure and information with regard to escalating complaints. The service should 
be able to capture all complaints and compliments with the view to developing and 
improving service delivery, practice and customer satisfaction. The learning from 
complaints should be shared in the fostering and CIC Teams.

Communication between the fostering service and carers was another issue that 
most of the carers highlighted. They said that they valued the consultation meetings 
but did not receive feedback on what actions are taken to address their concerns and 
thus they remain unresolved for them.
Some carers had direct access to a finance officer while others did not know who or 
how to contact the finance officer.  Carers also seemed confused by what items 
could be claimed, for instance some carers had access to a claim form for attending 
the focus group while others were unfamiliar with the form. Similarly carers 
expressed confusion about payments they received but did not understand why and 
or how the amount was calculated.

Recommendations
 Review the duty systems to assess where efficiencies might be achieved and 

consider if there is potential to improve the carer’s experience. 
 Generally consider the communication strategy for foster carers and ensure 

that all carers should have access to the formal complaints procedure and 
training on how to make a complaint. 

 The fostering service and the Corporate Complaints Team should capture both 
complaints and compliments to promote a culture of learning and development 

 The finance policy/guidance for carer’s fees and allowances needs more 
clarity as expressed by the carers. A clear finance policy with a detailed 
remittance statement and an identified link finance officer would provide carers 
with the information, forms and support as and when required. There should 
be a clear communication strategy between the fostering service and carers.  
Where issues are raised and resolved this should be noted so that carers are 
aware of the actions being taken by the department.

Page 24



Foster Carers Association 
The association is very active and ambitious and has already established good 
relationships with other community bodies and the fostering services. 

The chair is keen to build on its successes and shared some inspired plans that the 
association is currently pursuing. 

Given’s its contribution to both carers and the fostering service the association needs 
more support and active involvement from its membership. 

Recommendations 
 Workers to discuss as part of the supervisory visit the role of the association 

and encourage participation.
 Promote the role at events and via written communication to carers but also 

make it a requirement at the higher level or requirement for a higher 
remuneration, thus ensuring greater involvement and continuity

Virtual School 
This service is very impressive in the knowledge and positive involvement they have 
with Fostering and LAC services. The staff had very positive feedback from both 
other professionals and children alike. This is a major strength of the service.

3.2.3. Supervision 

Record Keeping 
The new ICS (Liquid Logic) has been criticised by the users (staff) as poorly 
designed, unreliable in supporting practice and generally unfit for purpose. 

The case audits found that records are fragmented and information is held in a 
number of separate systems (hard copy, network drives, personal folders and Liberi). 

Staff in the fostering service said that the development and focus on fostering was 
left to the end and not given sufficient importance and or attention compared to ICT 
developments of the same system for front line processes.  Whether this was real or 
not it was a feeling that was expressed. 

Recommendations
 Review the case recording policy and ensure it is clear and implemented for the 

fostering service.
 The ICT needs of individual staff needs to be assessed enabling staff to have 

confidence and competence to navigate the IT system.  The training already 
made available may need to be delivered to staff again to ensure they have 
understood processes and systems.

 Additionally it would be worth ensuring that staff have access to “floor walkers or 
supers users”. 

 During the review the plan for ensuring all essential records were held 
electronically were being put in place with additional administrative support.  
Head of Fostering to ensure this is completed.

Page 25



Practice Standards
All supervising social workers have refresher training on the procedures policies and 
protocols in respect of all aspects of supervision and support.  This should include 
training on managing allegations, the reviewers understand that the policy has been 
updated and the training is planned for June and July 2016. Staff need to feel 
confident in the investigation of allegations. 

Further areas for the service to ensure there is clarity includes the documentation 
provided for panel, with a front sheet which has a statement of purpose and the 
decision required from panel.  Specific fostering terms were used interchangeably 
and this should be clarified for staff through the refresher training.
 
Foster Carers’ Annual Review
Managers could tell that all statutory reviews were completed from their performance 
data reports because the management information reported this, but they could not 
confirm whether the quality of practice led to improved fostering services and or 
whether or not the practice was aligned to the statutory requirements and quality 
standards. The result is that oversight to confirm their continuing suitability and 
identify any support, training and development needs is not good enough.  The social 
work task should be developed so that it is a dynamic process and the importance of 
the annual review should be addressed throughout the year and as part of the 
regular supervision visits. Foster carers then receive regular feedback about their 
training, how well they are caring and responding as foster carers as well as 
identifying areas where they need support or development. 

Foster carers have requested that the process is more engaging and meaningful.  
The service recognised that this was an area that warranted increased resource and 
attention.  To this end a new service for the independent review of foster carers has 
been funded.  Recruitment has been successful for the Team Manager and further 
recruitment is in process for the independent reviewing social workers.  

Recommendations
 A clear procedure for social workers, managers and foster carers, with training 

on the procedure and practice in relation to annual reviews. 
 Implement a new fostering review system (FIRO) that enables and promotes 

independent scrutiny.
 Embed and train staff and managers on the system for managing allegations 

against professionals and ensure that there are sufficient resources to respond 
promptly to allegations of harm or potential harm caused by professionals. 
Ensure that allegations of abuse, mistreatment or poor practice by professionals 
are recorded accurately.

3.3 Performance and Quality Assurance 
KCC has a very impressive performance report, which is colour coded for easy 
reference and available to all senior managers. This should form part of team 
meetings with supervising social workers so they are aware of the areas that the 
service performs well and where there are gaps.  This should be presented along 
with an overview of the file audit findings so that both the qualitative and quantitative 
data is available.

Service Managers should have management grip on the fostering service and be 
aware of the fostering service standards of practice.  This should be consistent 

Page 26



across the service; there was variability in the knowledge and management grip 
which impacted on the quality of fostering services.

3.3.1. Management Oversight and Supervision Records  

Supervision does not occur in accordance with the local authority’s own policy. As a 
result, managers do not routinely monitor and assess progress.  In some cases there 
were concerns, such as allegations against foster carers but in the absence of any 
supervision records and or management decisions it was difficult to establish the role 
of the management in promoting safe practice and supporting or enabling the 
direction of the plans.  In those cases where supervision notes were evident, there 
are gaps in the frequency, quality and the value of supervision notes. They provided 
little to no reflection on practice, guidance and direction on the case and did not 
address the key fundamental principles and expectations of staff supervision.
We were unable to establish with any clarity whether supervision happened but was 
not recorded or regular supervision of staff did not take place. Irrespective, we took 
the view that if the records were absent then supervision did not take place.  
Individual performance management is poor, levels of supervision are inconsistent 
and management oversight is lacking. All this means that social workers lack the 
support they need to safeguard children effectively in their fostering placements. 

The internal case audits identified this as an area for significant improvement.  
Management oversight of cases, including scrutiny by senior managers, requires a 
systematic approach so that the practice can be scrutinised and by doing so move 
the service to consistently good service.   This will be supported by the supervision 
training and programme of practice seminars lead by Head of Fostering.  A continued 
programme of auditing will ensure that there is increasing evidence of management 
oversight and recording of supervision.  This is particularly important when 
evidencing decision making in respect of allegations and standards of care.  

Recommendations 
 Embed a performance management framework so that staff at all levels have 

timely, relevant and accurate performance and quality assurance information to 
enable them to improve and deliver improved services. 

 Performance manage, support and review those staff and managers , as well as  
service managers who do not act on agreed actions arising out of a case audit. 
Serious consideration needs to be given to the implementation, monitoring and 
remedial action required to ensure compliance.

 Ensure that social workers are included in a programme of routine audits of 
practice to provide rigorous scrutiny of work in this area. The findings of audits 
should be used to embed a learning culture. Training and coaching of managers 
and service managers to enable motivational and inspirational leadership of the 
service is crucial. There was some evidence of this style of leadership in the 
north office evidenced by the interaction between the manager and service 
manager and the expressed respect that staff felt for their manager. Ensure 
compliance in respect of the County’s supervision policy. 

 Ensure compliance in respect of the County’s supervision policy. The policy was 
seen and appears to have all the principles essential but is currently not 
practiced. This is a recommendation for senior management.   

Page 27



3.3.2. Panels

Panels observed were well managed by experienced panel members who were able 
to offer appropriate challenges to both staff and carers alike, but with sensitivity and 
skill.

The reports that are presented to panel should add value to the panel process. The 
purpose was not always articulated; for instance it said “permanency” but given 
permanency means a range of different options for children, it should state clearly 
that the case is being presented for a long term match between a specific carer and a 
child. The current system to progress matches is an overly bureaucratised process 
which burdens social workers with unnecessary levels of paperwork, duplication and 
excess use of forms. The overall impact of this increasing administrative burden is to 
deflect social workers from working directly with children and families.  This was 
noted by the Head of Fostering and is being reviewed to reduce the burden on social 
workers.

Connected Persons Carers is a long report; however its value would be enhanced 
with a shorter more focussed template.

Carers were recommended for approval post 24 weeks without a DBS check, with 
the aim that the check would be returned before the decision maker. This process 
needs to be reviewed to ensure it is in line with the key panel and regulatory 
guidance.  
 

Recommendations 
 A review of this process for Long Term Fostering given that there is no legal 

requirement to present the match to panel with the view to considering alternate, 
more purposeful reports to enable decision making in this regard.

 A clear PPM procedure with an identified process to drive greater efficiencies will 
need to be supported by a good monitoring and tracking tool.

 The quality of reports presented to Fostering panels need to be strengthened 
along with the quality assurance role of the managers prior to panel.  Reports 
should all have a good summary for matching children with carers

 Ensure permanent carers recruited or selected meet the needs of the children 
that require permanence and this should be evidenced in a single document that 
reflects the carers’ capacity to meet the identified and specific needs of the child. 
(Why this carer for this child).

 Review the approval practice for Connected Persons to align with the fostering 
regulations.

3.3.3. IRO Services

The IRO service reported that officers enjoyed a stable case load and were very 
knowledgeable about children on their respective caseloads.
They did not have access to LAC performance data and thus could not confirm how 
this data is used as part of the overall quality assurance role. 
Placement stability was explored in detail given the feedback from children. The 
feedback from the IRO feedback and feedback from children correlated to the 
placement stability statistics which reflects this is an area that requires attention. The 

Page 28



IRO’s felt that while disruption meetings or core stability meetings were held they 
lacked the essential resources to support the placements to promote stability.   
Placement stability is being reviewed and an innovation expression of interest has 
also been made to the Department of Education which is to support the development 
of bespoke services for children and young people to be supported in placements.

Recommendations 
 A review of a cohort of children with more than 3 placement moves should be 

undertaken with the view to determining how to improve services to foster 
carers and children where there are complex needs with the view to preventing 
placement breakdown.

 As part of this exercise we recommend that the service looks at investing and 
building practice that promotes a rapid response to carers and children in those 
placements to include amongst many other resources a familiar respite carer 
and a one to one systemic therapist for the foster carer and child.

 Fostering Service to review its participation and feedback at reviews for 
children.

3.3.4. Children and Young People 

We were impressed with the level of participation and insight of the children at both 
focus groups of children.  Clearly they were well supported by their carers to attend; 
they also knew each other very well, some having attended similar meetings 
previously. They valued their social workers and carers alike and interesting almost 
all the children identified the fostering social worker as the person they would reach 
out if they were unhappy. They also confirmed that they saw and spoke to the 
fostering social worker regularly. This strength in the fostering practice needs to be 
reflected in case records and reports.

Children wanted us to take the following key messages forward:-
1.They were unhappy about “sleepovers” with their friends. They were really 

frustrated that they could not enjoy the life experiences that most children take 
for granted usually because a DBS check is required. We would recommend 
that the service reviews the use of delegated authority, unless of course there 
are clear safeguarding issues that would prevent a child from staying 
overnight with another child.  

2.Placement stability or the number of times a child moved placements appeared 
to be very high. Sadly for many of the children present, they very rarely 
understood why they moved. This led to them changing their response to 
foster carers over the years as they felt less committed to establishing a 
relationship with a temporary person. One child it seemed still carried guilt 
about his behaviour towards a carer while others were almost still morning the 
loss of people they deemed to be significant in their lives but with no 
opportunity for contact. The previous recommendation in relation to placement 
stability will help to understand the practice and therefore prevent multiple 
placement moves but it does not address the issue around the impact on 
children. We thought that life story work is one of the opportunities to manage 
this loss with the view to more intensive support as and when issues arise 
from the preliminary life story work.

3.Children felt unable to make complaints because complaints made in the past 
are yet to receive a response.  We have passed the details of one person who 
made a complaint many years ago against a social worker and she felt 

Page 29



disappointed that she did not receive feedback.  This case has been referred 
back to the Assistant Director.

4.They wanted to be supported to manage and continue their relationship with 
their birth families especially siblings who are still in care.  They felt that they 
are often excluded and not offered contact with siblings who may be 
experiencing difficulties.

5.Housing for those leaving care was a major concern. The young people seemed 
remarkably knowledgably about housing opportunities.  This felt very 
desperate and sad for one young person whose details we have passed on to 
the Assistant Director for follow up.

Recommendations 
 Embedded within the above comments are a range of themes highlighted for 

easy reference that need further exploration. More importantly it points to the 
areas that the service will need to direct its resources to improve the quality of 
care for children

3.4 Workforce 

Staff turnover is impacting on staff morale and this includes the changes in senior 
managers. Staff expressed a lack of confidence in their value to the Council which is 
partly due to a loss of their identity as a “fostering” team when they co-located with 
the children’s team under the new delivery model. This theme was also highlighted in 
the feedback from foster carers who expressed the view that their supervising link 
social worker was in fact more of a child’s social worker because their one to one 
supervision sessions appears to focus mostly on the children  as opposed to the 
developmental and support needs of foster carers.
The co-location of services, we believe is still an excellent opportunity to deliver 
services in a more coordinated and systemic way. Shared management between 
looked after children and fostering does mean that a focus has to be retained on 
fostering services.  The current structure is supported through the new appointment 
of Assistant Director Corporate parenting and the new Head of Service for Fostering.  
This provides strategic leadership and focus on the fostering services.
There are significant difficulties in recruiting and retaining experienced staff in all 
levels of the service and there is a reliance on agency staff at one point or another. 
Staff and foster carers reported that “managers and social workers come and go” a 
condition that has led to instability in the workforce, which would account for some of 
the staff negativity especially given the impact on increased duty tasks and 
allocations for permanent staff. This has had an impact on staff morale.

Caseloads were noted to be on average around 18.   Caseloads of this size support 
the delivery of the improvements to the fostering service and will support it moving it 
to a good service.

4. Conclusion

We have looked and listened to the experiences of children and young people who 
are currently in care; those young people who are leaving care and starting their lives 
as young adults and those tasked with providing care for children in KCC. 

Page 30



We considered the quality of fostering social work practice and the difference this 
made, read case files, observed professional staff and discussed the effectiveness of 
the help and support given to children and young people and their foster carers. 

Wherever possible, we met and talked to children, young people and their foster 
carers.  In addition, we tried to understand to what extent KCC understood and knew 
how well it is performing and what needed to change. 

KCC fostering services have been reorganised with the view to enabling a “team 
around the child approach” and, in doing so, fostering services appears to have 
dropped in its standards and practice and is not currently delivering the requirements 
of a good fostering service. 

In considering our rating of KCC we mirrored the Ofsted judgement criteria and 
judged KCC to be an authority that requires improvement. 

We found that there are no widespread or serious failures that create or leave 
children at risk of being harmed. The welfare of looked after children is safeguarded 
and promoted. Minimum requirements are in place.  However, the authority is not yet 
delivering good fostering services for children and young people in care.

KCC is a vast county but with the potential to build on its resource of foster carers. It 
is ideally placed to challenge the IFA sector that is very active within its boundaries 
as well implement a creative and very innovative model of foster care services. 

This however will require a management style, leadership; knowledge and expertise 
to not only drive the programme of change but to engage the workforce, including its 
resource of foster carers are on this journey. 

Page 31



Page 32



Appendix 2
Fostering Business Plan 2016

First Review and update: 1st July 2016

(To be reviewed quarterly to ensure continuous development Incorporating the Fostering Improvement Plan March 2016 and Management Action Plan 
from the In-House Foster Care internal audit report dated June 2015)

Kent Fostering Service Vision: To achieve an outstanding fostering service by March 2017 that ensures consistent support to 
foster carers with positive outcomes and improved placement stability for children and young people in our care. 

Target 1: Ensure that children and young people communicate their views on all aspects of their care and support.  (NMS 1.3)
What do we 
want to 
achieve? 

Who will do it 
and by when? 

What have we achieved and what is our target? How will we measure 
the outcome

Child in Care and 
Fostering Teams 
to promote the 
voice of the 
children and 
young people in 
their districts as 
a priority.  

Service 
Managers 
Head of 
Fostering

Completed

Participation Strategy signed off by the Divisional 
Managers Team (Assistant Directors and the Director 
of Specialist Children’s Services) in May 2015, and 
presented to the Children in Care (District) Service 
Managers in June 2015.

Joint participation workshops in place for 2016/17 for 
foster carers, social workers and young people.  

To be measured through attendance of foster carers 
and social workers at participation training. 

Participation workshop to be part of staff Personal 
Development Plan and new staff induction. 

To achieve 70% of 864 foster carers attending

1.1

1.2

1.3

To increase 
feedback 
available for 
foster carers’ 
annual reviews 
from children and 
young people.

Fostering Team 
Managers,
Fostering 
Review Team 
Manager (to be 
appointed) 
By August 
2016

Fostering Review Team to be implemented to achieve 
independent reviews of foster carer’s approvals.

Children and young people’s feedback form will be 
redesigned through work with the participation worker.

Feedback forms will be uploaded onto Liberi to give 
clear evidence of children’s views. 
There will be a competition to design the new 
feedback form, facilitated by the Participation worker.

Review Team to be in place by August 2016. 

To achieve all children (age appropriate) contributing 
to foster carers annual reviews. 

To make this part of the reporting for Deep Dives. 

Review July 2016 – There is evidence of a change 
in culture that Fostering social workers now view it 
as their responsibility to obtain feedback from 

P
age 33



Fostering Reviewing Team will set up monitoring 
system to ensure feedback forms are returned and 
part of the annual review.

children in placement. This is done through their 
supervision visits to carers and as part of the annual 
review. 
All area support teams to complete summary of 
children’s feedback 6 monthly. 

 
To ensure 
children’s views 
from child in care 
reviews feed into 
foster carer 
supervision and 
annual reviews, 
and are acted 
upon. 

IROs, CIC 
social workers 
and Fostering 
Team 
Managers

Child in Care social workers to complete review 
feedback forms for foster carer’s annual reviews and 
to support children to complete feedback.  
Fostering Reviewing Team will set up monitoring 
system to ensure feedback forms from children’s 
social workers are returned and part of the annual 
review process.  The review team will create 
independent challenge and support practice 
development increasing quality assurance. 

There will be an audit of 20 cases per month by the 
centralised fostering teams from across the county, 
which will include quality of annual reviews. This will 
give a total of 240 cases audited between May 2016-
May 2017 plus an additional 100 completed for the 
fostering review.  

Any graded as inadequate will be rectified within 5 
days. Measure will be zero graded as inadequate by 
end of year, aim of all to be at good standard (or 
above).  Any safeguarding concern to be addressed 
immediately.  

Updated June 2016: Fostering Support Teams 
will complete 10 audits per month for their own 
team and these will be completed alongside 
social workers. Included within this will be direct 
feedback from foster carers. Team Managers will 
return one completed template to Assistant 
Director and Head of Fostering per month. 
 

Target 2:  Ensure all foster carers have a clear training and personal development plan including training on safe care, CSE and understanding 
of behavior and child development to include positive control and de-escalation.   (NMS 3.8, 4.6 and 5.1)

What do we Who will do it What have we achieved and what is our target? How will we measure 

P
age 34



want to 
achieve? 

and by when? the outcome?

2.1

Undertake 
comprehensive 
needs and gap 
analysis of foster 
carer training, 
with reference to 
supporting 
carers to take 
more challenging 
placements and 
missing children 
/ CSE.

Update the 
training strategy 
from 2013. 

Fostering 
Training 
Manager 

MIU support 
with Liberi 
reporting

To be 
completed by 
September 
2016
 

Fostering teams ensure all foster carers understand 
the strategy for dealing with missing children and 
ensure risk assessments are updated.  Managers to 
take missing / CSE themes and guidance to Foster 
Carer Forums

All foster carer training now has a clear pathway 
related to career experience.  Additional training now 
includes Missing from Care, Unaccompanied Asylum 
Young People and CSE as part of the ongoing 
training portfolio.

All foster carers to have a Personal Development 
Plan initially as part of the Form F assessment, then 
updated at each Annual Review. 
Target:  Training must be addressed as part of 
Supervision of Foster Carers and non-attendance 
addressed through annual review process and panel.  
Liberi reporting needs to improve to be able to give 
information on percentage of carers who have 
completed core training within first/second year of 
approval.  
Child Missing from Care report to be used as indicator 
of whether numbers of children missing from care has 
reduced.   

CSE training is now incorporated into the training 
pathway for all foster carers of children 11+.  
Workshops achieved in conjunction with KFCA 
which has brought together staff and foster carers

Foster carer training to become part of Liberi 
reporting on a monthly basis.  

Audit tool to include evidence of PDP. 

To achieve all foster carers for children age 11 plus 
to have completed mandatory training by May 2017.

To develop expert and skilled foster carers for those 
children at risk from CSE/missing. 
Updated June 2016: Training Manager to set up 
training across the county to improve placement 
stability. 5k additional funding to be made 
available for CBT/solution focused practice. To 
contact independent providers and liaise with 
CAMHS to coordinate their offer of support for 
foster carer training. 

Target 3: Maintain an effective strategy to ensure sufficient foster carers are responsive to current and predicted future demands on the 
service.  This recommendations is made within the context of recruiting a sufficient number of foster carers who can accommodate sibling 
groups, so as to reduce the need for exemptions (NMS 13.1)

What do we 
want to 
achieve? 

Who will do it 
and by when? 

What have we achieved and what is our target? How will we measure 
the outcome 

Ensure better 
use of current 

Fostering Team 
Managers and 

All inactive foster carers have been reviewed and 
a number of carers deregistered, to ensure 

All teams completed 
actions on inactive 

P
age 35



vacancies, 
review and 
deregister 
where carers 
are unavailable

Service 
Managers

maximum use of in house vacancies. carers. In house 
placements achieved at 
96%, this has reduced 
recently to 89%.

Update 
recruitment 
strategy to reflect 
use of social 
media and on 
line advertising. 

Plan for the use 
of the 
recruitment 
budget to include 
short term 
outcomes 
(Fostering 
Fortnight) and a 
longer term 
yearly plan. 

Head of 
Fostering with 
Chris Clark, 
Recruitment 
Coordinator and 
Communications 
Team.

By July 2016

Website updated with new images and clear branding 
for “Kent Fostering Service” and added to frequently 
to keep current.  Recruitment activity focused on 
targeted areas: siblings, adolescents, disabled 
children and unaccompanied asylum young people. 
There will be increased use of use of Facebook, 
Twitter and Google to promote the service and 
increase applications.  Evening on line Q&A web chat 
sessions held quarterly, target is to expand to use of 
a webinar. 

Target for foster carers:  To recruit 150 new fostering 
households, to retain and achieve 900 registered 
foster carers. 

Retention: Every applicant to be allocated a local 
mentor at point of assessment (research from 
Fostering Network Project 2015).  Support Social 
worker to be allocated prior to panel and to jointly 
attend the panel with assessing social worker. 

Communication Team to provide reporting on 
number of hits to website, analysis on where people 
have seen information about recruitment events and 
overall increase in applications following Fostering 
Fortnight.  

Retention of foster carers to be evaluated every 6 
months, using information from exit interviews. 
(These are to be continued to be undertaken for all 
carers that leave the service)

Post approval interviews to be completed 6 months 
after approval, to learn from and review the 
recruitment process and initially support provided.  

Review of current exemptions to be undertaken by 
County Manager. (August 2016)

3.1

3.2

3.3

Introduce a 
“mascot” for Kent 
Fostering.

Communications 
team to 
research the use 
of a mascot.

By July 2016

Mascot could be used to give as a toy to younger 
children in care and be used in advertising and 
promotions.  To approach a local Kent company to 
gain some sponsorship/support with production.  To 
explore the use of animation on the website with the 
aim of making it more interactive.  This to be linked to 
creating a “target of carers” using an image such as a 
lighthouse, to show the increasing numbers of carers 
over the year.

This will be measured through use of feedback from 
applicants, current foster carers and children, to 
survey whether they have seen the mascot.  Its 
success will be measured through an increase in 
applications for year 2016/2017.  

Review: Meeting planned for July 2016 with 
Communications team to progress banners, mascot 
and new branding. 

P
age 36



Target 4: Ensure that the County Manager regularly monitors all records kept by the service to ensure compliance with the service’s policies 
and to identify specific incidents and areas of concern, patterns and trends.  This recommendation is made within the context of addressing 
the variable quality of foster carer Annual Reviews. (NMS 25.2)

What do we 
want to 
achieve? 

Who will do it 
and by when? 

What have we achieved and what is our target? How will we measure 
the outcome 

4.1

Foster carer files 
to be audited 
regularly.  
Themes from 
audit to be fed 
back and used to 
improve quality 
of recording at 
CIC meeting and 
extended 
managers 
meeting. .

Service 
Managers and 
Head of 
Fostering
Team 
Managers

By end of 
June 2016

Head of Fostering has audited a number of cases 
from each area and highlighted immediate areas of 
concern within a number of Annual Reviews.  
All areas to be supported by Sue Gardner, MIU 
training and support to clear back log of incomplete 
Annual Reviews.   

Fostering Review Team to be set up by August 
2016. 

Review: Learning culture created, through audits 
e.g evaluation from the review of allegations 
identified need for staff training. Allegations 
workshops to be delivered to Team Managers by 
Head of Fostering.

New audit tool to be added to on line Liberi system.  
Auditing has taken place (new carers), there will now 
be regular audits every month. Future audit cycle to 
be part of regular Quality Assurance.  Team 
Managers in support Teams to audit 10 cases per 
month (audit to be completed with social workers) 

Outcome of audits to be reported at extended 
managers meetings (monthly) and Child in Care. 

Fostering Review completed by Head of Service 
and Manager form tri borough June 2016.  

Target 5: Handling allegations and suspicions of harm (NMS 22)

P
age 37



  
What do we 
want to 
achieve? 

Who will do it 
and by when? 

What have we achieved and what is our target? How will we measure 
the outcome 

5.1

To have a central 
system for 
recording 
complaints and 
allegations.  
Clear 
leadership in 
management of 
allegations, 
with use of 
performance 
management 
where 
appropriate. 
 

Service 
Managers 

The information available is distributed across paper 
and electronic files It does appear that discussions 
may have been had with the LADO in two out of the 
three cases audited but there needs to be improved 
recording.  

Target: All allegations are recorded on the carer’s 
record on Liberi and presented to the fostering panel.   
Peer Support Training to be provided yearly to ensure 
carers are supported and understand the process.  

The procedures for what to do when an allegation is 
made against a carer has been updated and is 
available in Kent’s Policy pages, and the LADO team 
have attended all fostering team meetings to 
reinforce the requirements of the police which is in 
line with national minimum standards to refer all 
allegations made against foster carers to a LADO.

All Fostering Teams to follow the flowchart for 
allegations, as provided by the LADO service. 

Allegations to be added to the Fostering 
Dashboard/Scorecard for recording. 

Update June 2016: Head of Fostering to deliver 2 
seminars on allegations for Team Managers, who 
will then deliver to all fostering social workers. 
To include LADO role, notification form and 
flowchart.   To be held between July-September 
2016. 
Notification form to be used on all allegations, 
sent to LADO, Head of fostering and AD. 

P
age 38



Target  6:  Payment to carers (NMS 28)

 
What do we 
want to 
achieve? 

Who will do it 
and by when? 

What have we achieved and what is our target? How will we measure 
the outcome 

A review of the 
disability 
enhancement 
payments. 

Assistant 
Director for 
Corporate 
Parenting, 
Head of 
Fostering
By end of May 
2016

The current payments system has some inaccuracy 
across the county and needs a clear policy. 
Allowances to be reviewed in consultation with foster 
carers. Letter to be sent to all disability carers by end 
of April 2016, to advise of payments review. (NMS 
28.3)
Target: To achieve a clear and transparent payment 
structure for carers of children with a disability. (NMS 
28.5)

All carers know what payments they will receive for 
caring for a child with a disability. 

All carers will be on the correct level of payment 
dependent on the child’s assessed level of need. 
This will be agreed at funding panel and reviewed 
yearly. 

Review: Policy agreed 30th June 2016. 
A review of the 
day care 
payments

Assistant 
Director for 
Corporate 
Parenting, 
Head of 
Fostering
By end of Jan 
2017

Carers are currently being paid below the recommend 
hourly Living Wage when providing day care to 
children. The use of day care to support placement 
stability to be reviewed. 

To review the day care payments in line with the 
recommend Living Wage. 

Initial review May 2016 to keep payments the same, 
further work needed on analysis of use of day care 
and cost implications of changing day care rate. 

6.1

6.2

6.3

A review of the 
payments for 
Skills Level 2 
and Level 3 
payments.

Assistant 
Director for 
Corporate 
Parenting, 
Head of  
Fostering, 
Training 
Manager
By end of 
March 2017

Review the function and format of the Payment for 
Skills Panel. 

Review the Competency Assessment Framework 
(2008) and update.  Create panel checklist for 
presenting carers at Level 2 / 3.

This would involve some additional training for panel 
members and staff on the process and reports 
required. 

Carers and staff need a clear process to provide 
evidence for the consideration of Level 2 and 3 
payments.  This will be measured in achieving 
consistent practice across the county. 

Training to be delivered in line with updated 
competency framework. 
New training manager to review by March 2017. 

6.4
Carers 
transferring from 
IFA’s.

Completed All carers transferring from an IFA will transfer across 
to Kent Fostering Service on the Kent County Council 
payment structure.  This will be made clear at point of 

The County Manager will review every 6 months 
what the local IFA’s are paying foster carers to 
ensure Kent remains competitive in his payments 

P
age 39



application and recorded within protocol meetings.  and support package. 

Target 7: Foster Carers receive the support and supervision they need in order to care properly for children place with them. Supervision and 
support of foster carers (NMS 21)

What do we 
want to 
achieve? 

Who will do it 
and by when? 

What have we achieved and what is our target? How will we measure 
the outcome 

A consistent 
template for 
supervision that 
is used for all 
foster carers.  A 
signed record of 
supervision is 
sent to carers 
and uploaded 
onto their Liberi 
file. 

Team 
Managers,
Service 
Managers 
Head of 
Fostering

By end of May 
2016

We have learnt from the KFCA survey of Foster 
Carers (February 2016) that 41% of carers are 
dissatisfied with the level of support provided and a 
number commented they do not receive copies of their 
supervision notes.  Managers and staff are not 
consistent in what template is being used for 
supervision.

Target: Team Managers to put together a template 
that will be agreed by Assistant Director. 

Audits will show that one template is being used 
across the county.  Carers will all have a supervision 
agreement and regularly receive the notes of their 
supervision (every 4-6 weeks.) There will be signed 
copies of supervision uploaded onto Liberi. 

Review: Template agreed by Assistant Director, 
to be built as form on Liberi. 

7.1

7.2

There is an 
effective Out of 
Hours Service for 
foster carers.

Fostering Team 
Managers

Each area currently runs an Out of Hours Service for 
their local carers between 5pm-12 Mon-Fri and over 
weekends and bank holidays.  This is supported by 
the County Out of Hours team who can be accessed 
at outside of these times (after midnight)

Carer’s report that this works well and they have 
access to advice and support. (NMS 21.3)

Review again March 2017. 

P
age 40



Target 8: Preparation for Placement (NMS 11) 
What do we 
want to 
achieve? 

Who will do it 
and by when? 

What have we achieved and what is our target? How will we measure 
the outcome 

Children are 
carefully 
matched to a 
foster placement 
and wherever 
possible given 
information about 
the foster carers 
before arrival. 
(NMS 11.3)

Service 
Managers 
Team 
Managers, 
Head of 
Fostering

End of June 
2016

Every foster carer has an up to date profile with 
photographs that can be printed off and given to 
children before the start of the placement.  Even in an 
emergency, the profile can be emailed to the placing 
social worker, to be shown to a child using current 
technology.
Audit of referrals for each area showed inadequate 
information in matching section of referral form. 

Target:  Referrals to be detailed with reasons for 
matching and support package for carers.
Review: Update referral, placement and matching 
form on Liberi. Form completed, request changes 
through ops group. 

Quality Assurance form to be used for all referrals to 
ensure appropriate information and matching 
recorded (oversight by Team Manager).

Carers to ask children whether they received carers 
profiles prior to placement. This to be recorded in 
carers supervision. 

To cascade though child in care meetings and 
extended managers meeting. 

Carers are given 
full information 
about the child. 

Fostering Team 
Managers
Fostering 
Social Workers

End of June 
2016

Audit of referrals for each area showed inadequate 
information at point of referral. 

Target: Referrals to be quality assured at point of 
referral and returned to children social workers if not 
of good quality.  

Quality Assurance form to be used for all referrals to 
ensure appropriate information and matching 
recorded. (oversight by Team Manager)

Report to Child in Care meeting on outcome of 
audits and areas requiring improvement.  (May 
2016)

8.1

8.2

8.3 Delegated 
Authority 
recorded for all 
children and 
young people. 

Fostering 
Social Workers 
and Children’s 
Social Workers.
End of June 

There is inconsistent use of Delegated Authority and it 
being recorded and signed. 
Target: One Delegated Authority Form to be designed 
and used that covers all areas e.g. medical, 
education, social, religious and cultural needs. 

Form to be updated on Liberi. (July 2016)

Delegated Authority to be recorded on all placement 
plan arrangements and signed copy to be given to 
foster carer. 

P
age 41



2016
Review: Form being updated for Liberi – target for 
implementation September 2016. 

Delegated authority to be part of every audit. Any 
audit missing delegated authority will be rated 
inadequate and delegated authority to be in place  
within 5 days from audit.  

Target 9:  Staff support and supervision (NMS 24)
What do we 
want to 
achieve? 

Who will do it 
and by when? 

What have we achieved and what is our target? How will we measure 
the outcome 

9.1

A signed written 
record is kept by 
the fostering 
service of each 
staff member’s 
supervision. 

Team 
Managers, 
Head of 
Fostering 
By end of May 
2016

Staff supervision on casework is currently being 
recorded inconsistently on Liberi under case notes.  
Improvement required in analysis, signs of safety 
approach and any directed action regarding 
performance. 

Target: Template agreed by Assistant Director. 

Each area to set up electronic folder to store staff 
supervision that can be accessed by the County 
Manager and Assistant Director. 
Supervision template to be consistent across the 
county. 

Update June 2016: ACHIEVED
Supervision folders now set up for all Fostering 
staff, including Fostering Social workers and 
Team Managers. Supervision for Team Mangers 
by Assistant Directors to be saved electronically 
into shared area, for access by Assistant 
Director for corporate parenting and Head of 
Fostering. 

Each staff folder to contain:
Supervision agreement/contract
PDP’s/Action plans 
Supervision notes on agreed template
Record to confirm completion of mandatory 
training on Data Protection, Information 
Governance and PREVENT.

Case supervision to be recorded on Liberi on 

P
age 42



foster carers file.  Assistant Director and Head of 
Fostering to audit 2 staff supervision folders per 
area in August 2016.  

Target  10 Statement of Purpose (NMS 16)
What do we 
want to 
achieve? 

Who will do it 
and by when? 

What have we achieved and what is our target? How will we measure 
the outcome 

We want an 
ambitious 
fostering service 
that has a 
learning culture 
and builds on the 
strengths of our 
existing services 
for our children 
in care.  

Assistant 
Director for 
Corporate 
Parenting, 
Service 
Managers 
Head of 
Fostering

Kent Fostering Service has some excellent foster 
carers and specific schemes for children in care. 

Target: To review the current TRP scheme format, to 
ensure it provides best value for the funding required.
To build on the Disability Fostering Service by 
increasing the number of carers for short breaks.  
To use Serious Case Reviews to inform our practice 
and learn across the service how to make 
improvements. 

Review the Kent Statement of purpose (NMS 16.1) 
to ensure its aims and objectives are child focused 
and evidence how the service will achieve outcomes 
for children.  

Team Managers to use Serious Case Reviews in 
Team Meetings. 

Review: Innovation Bid report completed by 
Assistant Director June 2016. 

Innovation Bid 
Proposal June 2016 (3).docx

10.1

10.2

To develop a 
learning culture 
through joint 
training. 

Fostering Team 
Managers, 
Fostering 
Social Workers, 
Panel Members 
and Head of 
Fostering.   
October 2016

Training has been provided for panel members, 
fostering social workers, team Managers and Panel 
advisors but these have not been done jointly.

Target: To have a joint training day/conference for all 
Fostering Staff and Panel members. 

Paperless panels to be introduced with training for all 
panel members. 

To be organised for October 2016 and learning to be 
measured through evaluation 

Pilot for paperless panels to be in place by August 
2016. 

Review: Panel process for Permanency and 
Connected Persons assessments to be 
streamlined and paperwork reduced. (October 
2016)

P
age 43



Head of Fostering to deliver 2 half day seminars 
on Fostering Regulations to Team Managers 
between July and September 2016.  To develop 
an on line training on the fostering regulations 
with the training department, this will be 
mandatory for all fostering staff.  

Target  11: Promoting Independence and moves to adulthood and leaving care (NMS 12.1) 
What do we 
want to 
achieve? 

Who will do it 
and by when? 

What have we achieved and what is our target? How will we measure 
the outcome 

11.1 Kent Fostering 
Service to have 
comprehensive 
arrangements for 
preparing and 
supporting 
young people to 
make the 
transition to 
independence. 
(NMS 12.3)

County 
Fostering 
Manager 

County 
Manager 
18plus Care 
Leavers 
service.  

September 
2016

There is a clear policy for leaving care including 
Staying Put arrangements. This is detailed on Tri X 
and within the Fostering handbook. 

There will be a planned review of  the Staying Put 
policy to ensure there is an up to date leaflet and 
guidance for young people and foster carers.

To review Fostering Handbook guidance for leaving 
care and staying put.  

 Updated policy and leaflets by September 2016. 

To include policy for children that remain in 
secondary education after age 18, to enable foster 
carers to continue to be paid at fostering rate for 
period between 18th birthday and end of school year 
after this. 

P
age 44



Appendix 2
Fostering Business Plan 2016

First Review and update: 1st July 2016

(To be reviewed quarterly to ensure continuous development Incorporating the Fostering Improvement Plan March 2016 and Management Action Plan 
from the In-House Foster Care internal audit report dated June 2015)

Kent Fostering Service Vision: To achieve an outstanding fostering service by March 2017 that ensures consistent support to 
foster carers with positive outcomes and improved placement stability for children and young people in our care. 

Target 1: Ensure that children and young people communicate their views on all aspects of their care and support.  (NMS 1.3)
What do we 
want to 
achieve? 

Who will do it 
and by when? 

What have we achieved and what is our target? How will we measure 
the outcome

Child in Care and 
Fostering Teams 
to promote the 
voice of the 
children and 
young people in 
their districts as 
a priority.  

Service 
Managers 
Head of 
Fostering

Completed

Participation Strategy signed off by the Divisional 
Managers Team (Assistant Directors and the Director 
of Specialist Children’s Services) in May 2015, and 
presented to the Children in Care (District) Service 
Managers in June 2015.

Joint participation workshops in place for 2016/17 for 
foster carers, social workers and young people.  

To be measured through attendance of foster carers 
and social workers at participation training. 

Participation workshop to be part of staff Personal 
Development Plan and new staff induction. 

To achieve 70% of 864 foster carers attending

1.1

1.2

1.3

To increase 
feedback 
available for 
foster carers’ 
annual reviews 
from children and 
young people.

Fostering Team 
Managers,
Fostering 
Review Team 
Manager (to be 
appointed) 
By August 
2016

Fostering Review Team to be implemented to achieve 
independent reviews of foster carer’s approvals.

Children and young people’s feedback form will be 
redesigned through work with the participation worker.

Feedback forms will be uploaded onto Liberi to give 
clear evidence of children’s views. 
There will be a competition to design the new 
feedback form, facilitated by the Participation worker.

Review Team to be in place by August 2016. 

To achieve all children (age appropriate) contributing 
to foster carers annual reviews. 

To make this part of the reporting for Deep Dives. 

Review July 2016 – There is evidence of a change 
in culture that Fostering social workers now view it 
as their responsibility to obtain feedback from 

P
age 45



Fostering Reviewing Team will set up monitoring 
system to ensure feedback forms are returned and 
part of the annual review.

children in placement. This is done through their 
supervision visits to carers and as part of the annual 
review. 
All area support teams to complete summary of 
children’s feedback 6 monthly. 

 
To ensure 
children’s views 
from child in care 
reviews feed into 
foster carer 
supervision and 
annual reviews, 
and are acted 
upon. 

IROs, CIC 
social workers 
and Fostering 
Team 
Managers

Child in Care social workers to complete review 
feedback forms for foster carer’s annual reviews and 
to support children to complete feedback.  
Fostering Reviewing Team will set up monitoring 
system to ensure feedback forms from children’s 
social workers are returned and part of the annual 
review process.  The review team will create 
independent challenge and support practice 
development increasing quality assurance. 

There will be an audit of 20 cases per month by the 
centralised fostering teams from across the county, 
which will include quality of annual reviews. This will 
give a total of 240 cases audited between May 2016-
May 2017 plus an additional 100 completed for the 
fostering review.  

Any graded as inadequate will be rectified within 5 
days. Measure will be zero graded as inadequate by 
end of year, aim of all to be at good standard (or 
above).  Any safeguarding concern to be addressed 
immediately.  

Updated June 2016: Fostering Support Teams 
will complete 10 audits per month for their own 
team and these will be completed alongside 
social workers. Included within this will be direct 
feedback from foster carers. Team Managers will 
return one completed template to Assistant 
Director and Head of Fostering per month. 
 

Target 2:  Ensure all foster carers have a clear training and personal development plan including training on safe care, CSE and understanding 
of behavior and child development to include positive control and de-escalation.   (NMS 3.8, 4.6 and 5.1)

What do we Who will do it What have we achieved and what is our target? How will we measure 

P
age 46



want to 
achieve? 

and by when? the outcome?

2.1

Undertake 
comprehensive 
needs and gap 
analysis of foster 
carer training, 
with reference to 
supporting 
carers to take 
more challenging 
placements and 
missing children 
/ CSE.

Update the 
training strategy 
from 2013. 

Fostering 
Training 
Manager 

MIU support 
with Liberi 
reporting

To be 
completed by 
September 
2016
 

Fostering teams ensure all foster carers understand 
the strategy for dealing with missing children and 
ensure risk assessments are updated.  Managers to 
take missing / CSE themes and guidance to Foster 
Carer Forums

All foster carer training now has a clear pathway 
related to career experience.  Additional training now 
includes Missing from Care, Unaccompanied Asylum 
Young People and CSE as part of the ongoing 
training portfolio.

All foster carers to have a Personal Development 
Plan initially as part of the Form F assessment, then 
updated at each Annual Review. 
Target:  Training must be addressed as part of 
Supervision of Foster Carers and non-attendance 
addressed through annual review process and panel.  
Liberi reporting needs to improve to be able to give 
information on percentage of carers who have 
completed core training within first/second year of 
approval.  
Child Missing from Care report to be used as indicator 
of whether numbers of children missing from care has 
reduced.   

CSE training is now incorporated into the training 
pathway for all foster carers of children 11+.  
Workshops achieved in conjunction with KFCA 
which has brought together staff and foster carers

Foster carer training to become part of Liberi 
reporting on a monthly basis.  

Audit tool to include evidence of PDP. 

To achieve all foster carers for children age 11 plus 
to have completed mandatory training by May 2017.

To develop expert and skilled foster carers for those 
children at risk from CSE/missing. 
Updated June 2016: Training Manager to set up 
training across the county to improve placement 
stability. 5k additional funding to be made 
available for CBT/solution focused practice. To 
contact independent providers and liaise with 
CAMHS to coordinate their offer of support for 
foster carer training. 

Target 3: Maintain an effective strategy to ensure sufficient foster carers are responsive to current and predicted future demands on the 
service.  This recommendations is made within the context of recruiting a sufficient number of foster carers who can accommodate sibling 
groups, so as to reduce the need for exemptions (NMS 13.1)

What do we 
want to 
achieve? 

Who will do it 
and by when? 

What have we achieved and what is our target? How will we measure 
the outcome 

Ensure better 
use of current 

Fostering Team 
Managers and 

All inactive foster carers have been reviewed and 
a number of carers deregistered, to ensure 

All teams completed 
actions on inactive 

P
age 47



vacancies, 
review and 
deregister 
where carers 
are unavailable

Service 
Managers

maximum use of in house vacancies. carers. In house 
placements achieved at 
96%, this has reduced 
recently to 89%.

Update 
recruitment 
strategy to reflect 
use of social 
media and on 
line advertising. 

Plan for the use 
of the 
recruitment 
budget to include 
short term 
outcomes 
(Fostering 
Fortnight) and a 
longer term 
yearly plan. 

Head of 
Fostering with 
Chris Clark, 
Recruitment 
Coordinator and 
Communications 
Team.

By July 2016

Website updated with new images and clear branding 
for “Kent Fostering Service” and added to frequently 
to keep current.  Recruitment activity focused on 
targeted areas: siblings, adolescents, disabled 
children and unaccompanied asylum young people. 
There will be increased use of use of Facebook, 
Twitter and Google to promote the service and 
increase applications.  Evening on line Q&A web chat 
sessions held quarterly, target is to expand to use of 
a webinar. 

Target for foster carers:  To recruit 150 new fostering 
households, to retain and achieve 900 registered 
foster carers. 

Retention: Every applicant to be allocated a local 
mentor at point of assessment (research from 
Fostering Network Project 2015).  Support Social 
worker to be allocated prior to panel and to jointly 
attend the panel with assessing social worker. 

Communication Team to provide reporting on 
number of hits to website, analysis on where people 
have seen information about recruitment events and 
overall increase in applications following Fostering 
Fortnight.  

Retention of foster carers to be evaluated every 6 
months, using information from exit interviews. 
(These are to be continued to be undertaken for all 
carers that leave the service)

Post approval interviews to be completed 6 months 
after approval, to learn from and review the 
recruitment process and initially support provided.  

Review of current exemptions to be undertaken by 
County Manager. (August 2016)

3.1

3.2

3.3

Introduce a 
“mascot” for Kent 
Fostering.

Communications 
team to 
research the use 
of a mascot.

By July 2016

Mascot could be used to give as a toy to younger 
children in care and be used in advertising and 
promotions.  To approach a local Kent company to 
gain some sponsorship/support with production.  To 
explore the use of animation on the website with the 
aim of making it more interactive.  This to be linked to 
creating a “target of carers” using an image such as a 
lighthouse, to show the increasing numbers of carers 
over the year.

This will be measured through use of feedback from 
applicants, current foster carers and children, to 
survey whether they have seen the mascot.  Its 
success will be measured through an increase in 
applications for year 2016/2017.  

Review: Meeting planned for July 2016 with 
Communications team to progress banners, mascot 
and new branding. 

P
age 48



Target 4: Ensure that the County Manager regularly monitors all records kept by the service to ensure compliance with the service’s policies 
and to identify specific incidents and areas of concern, patterns and trends.  This recommendation is made within the context of addressing 
the variable quality of foster carer Annual Reviews. (NMS 25.2)

What do we 
want to 
achieve? 

Who will do it 
and by when? 

What have we achieved and what is our target? How will we measure 
the outcome 

4.1

Foster carer files 
to be audited 
regularly.  
Themes from 
audit to be fed 
back and used to 
improve quality 
of recording at 
CIC meeting and 
extended 
managers 
meeting. .

Service 
Managers and 
Head of 
Fostering
Team 
Managers

By end of 
June 2016

Head of Fostering has audited a number of cases 
from each area and highlighted immediate areas of 
concern within a number of Annual Reviews.  
All areas to be supported by Sue Gardner, MIU 
training and support to clear back log of incomplete 
Annual Reviews.   

Fostering Review Team to be set up by August 
2016. 

Review: Learning culture created, through audits 
e.g evaluation from the review of allegations 
identified need for staff training. Allegations 
workshops to be delivered to Team Managers by 
Head of Fostering.

New audit tool to be added to on line Liberi system.  
Auditing has taken place (new carers), there will now 
be regular audits every month. Future audit cycle to 
be part of regular Quality Assurance.  Team 
Managers in support Teams to audit 10 cases per 
month (audit to be completed with social workers) 

Outcome of audits to be reported at extended 
managers meetings (monthly) and Child in Care. 

Fostering Review completed by Head of Service 
and Manager form tri borough June 2016.  

Target 5: Handling allegations and suspicions of harm (NMS 22)

P
age 49



  
What do we 
want to 
achieve? 

Who will do it 
and by when? 

What have we achieved and what is our target? How will we measure 
the outcome 

5.1

To have a central 
system for 
recording 
complaints and 
allegations.  
Clear 
leadership in 
management of 
allegations, 
with use of 
performance 
management 
where 
appropriate. 
 

Service 
Managers 

The information available is distributed across paper 
and electronic files It does appear that discussions 
may have been had with the LADO in two out of the 
three cases audited but there needs to be improved 
recording.  

Target: All allegations are recorded on the carer’s 
record on Liberi and presented to the fostering panel.   
Peer Support Training to be provided yearly to ensure 
carers are supported and understand the process.  

The procedures for what to do when an allegation is 
made against a carer has been updated and is 
available in Kent’s Policy pages, and the LADO team 
have attended all fostering team meetings to 
reinforce the requirements of the police which is in 
line with national minimum standards to refer all 
allegations made against foster carers to a LADO.

All Fostering Teams to follow the flowchart for 
allegations, as provided by the LADO service. 

Allegations to be added to the Fostering 
Dashboard/Scorecard for recording. 

Update June 2016: Head of Fostering to deliver 2 
seminars on allegations for Team Managers, who 
will then deliver to all fostering social workers. 
To include LADO role, notification form and 
flowchart.   To be held between July-September 
2016. 
Notification form to be used on all allegations, 
sent to LADO, Head of fostering and AD. 

P
age 50



Target  6:  Payment to carers (NMS 28)

 
What do we 
want to 
achieve? 

Who will do it 
and by when? 

What have we achieved and what is our target? How will we measure 
the outcome 

A review of the 
disability 
enhancement 
payments. 

Assistant 
Director for 
Corporate 
Parenting, 
Head of 
Fostering
By end of May 
2016

The current payments system has some inaccuracy 
across the county and needs a clear policy. 
Allowances to be reviewed in consultation with foster 
carers. Letter to be sent to all disability carers by end 
of April 2016, to advise of payments review. (NMS 
28.3)
Target: To achieve a clear and transparent payment 
structure for carers of children with a disability. (NMS 
28.5)

All carers know what payments they will receive for 
caring for a child with a disability. 

All carers will be on the correct level of payment 
dependent on the child’s assessed level of need. 
This will be agreed at funding panel and reviewed 
yearly. 

Review: Policy agreed 30th June 2016. 
A review of the 
day care 
payments

Assistant 
Director for 
Corporate 
Parenting, 
Head of 
Fostering
By end of Jan 
2017

Carers are currently being paid below the recommend 
hourly Living Wage when providing day care to 
children. The use of day care to support placement 
stability to be reviewed. 

To review the day care payments in line with the 
recommend Living Wage. 

Initial review May 2016 to keep payments the same, 
further work needed on analysis of use of day care 
and cost implications of changing day care rate. 

6.1

6.2

6.3

A review of the 
payments for 
Skills Level 2 
and Level 3 
payments.

Assistant 
Director for 
Corporate 
Parenting, 
Head of  
Fostering, 
Training 
Manager
By end of 
March 2017

Review the function and format of the Payment for 
Skills Panel. 

Review the Competency Assessment Framework 
(2008) and update.  Create panel checklist for 
presenting carers at Level 2 / 3.

This would involve some additional training for panel 
members and staff on the process and reports 
required. 

Carers and staff need a clear process to provide 
evidence for the consideration of Level 2 and 3 
payments.  This will be measured in achieving 
consistent practice across the county. 

Training to be delivered in line with updated 
competency framework. 
New training manager to review by March 2017. 

6.4
Carers 
transferring from 
IFA’s.

Completed All carers transferring from an IFA will transfer across 
to Kent Fostering Service on the Kent County Council 
payment structure.  This will be made clear at point of 

The County Manager will review every 6 months 
what the local IFA’s are paying foster carers to 
ensure Kent remains competitive in his payments 

P
age 51



application and recorded within protocol meetings.  and support package. 

Target 7: Foster Carers receive the support and supervision they need in order to care properly for children place with them. Supervision and 
support of foster carers (NMS 21)

What do we 
want to 
achieve? 

Who will do it 
and by when? 

What have we achieved and what is our target? How will we measure 
the outcome 

A consistent 
template for 
supervision that 
is used for all 
foster carers.  A 
signed record of 
supervision is 
sent to carers 
and uploaded 
onto their Liberi 
file. 

Team 
Managers,
Service 
Managers 
Head of 
Fostering

By end of May 
2016

We have learnt from the KFCA survey of Foster 
Carers (February 2016) that 41% of carers are 
dissatisfied with the level of support provided and a 
number commented they do not receive copies of their 
supervision notes.  Managers and staff are not 
consistent in what template is being used for 
supervision.

Target: Team Managers to put together a template 
that will be agreed by Assistant Director. 

Audits will show that one template is being used 
across the county.  Carers will all have a supervision 
agreement and regularly receive the notes of their 
supervision (every 4-6 weeks.) There will be signed 
copies of supervision uploaded onto Liberi. 

Review: Template agreed by Assistant Director, 
to be built as form on Liberi. 

7.1

7.2

There is an 
effective Out of 
Hours Service for 
foster carers.

Fostering Team 
Managers

Each area currently runs an Out of Hours Service for 
their local carers between 5pm-12 Mon-Fri and over 
weekends and bank holidays.  This is supported by 
the County Out of Hours team who can be accessed 
at outside of these times (after midnight)

Carer’s report that this works well and they have 
access to advice and support. (NMS 21.3)

Review again March 2017. 

P
age 52



Target 8: Preparation for Placement (NMS 11) 
What do we 
want to 
achieve? 

Who will do it 
and by when? 

What have we achieved and what is our target? How will we measure 
the outcome 

Children are 
carefully 
matched to a 
foster placement 
and wherever 
possible given 
information about 
the foster carers 
before arrival. 
(NMS 11.3)

Service 
Managers 
Team 
Managers, 
Head of 
Fostering

End of June 
2016

Every foster carer has an up to date profile with 
photographs that can be printed off and given to 
children before the start of the placement.  Even in an 
emergency, the profile can be emailed to the placing 
social worker, to be shown to a child using current 
technology.
Audit of referrals for each area showed inadequate 
information in matching section of referral form. 

Target:  Referrals to be detailed with reasons for 
matching and support package for carers.
Review: Update referral, placement and matching 
form on Liberi. Form completed, request changes 
through ops group. 

Quality Assurance form to be used for all referrals to 
ensure appropriate information and matching 
recorded (oversight by Team Manager).

Carers to ask children whether they received carers 
profiles prior to placement. This to be recorded in 
carers supervision. 

To cascade though child in care meetings and 
extended managers meeting. 

Carers are given 
full information 
about the child. 

Fostering Team 
Managers
Fostering 
Social Workers

End of June 
2016

Audit of referrals for each area showed inadequate 
information at point of referral. 

Target: Referrals to be quality assured at point of 
referral and returned to children social workers if not 
of good quality.  

Quality Assurance form to be used for all referrals to 
ensure appropriate information and matching 
recorded. (oversight by Team Manager)

Report to Child in Care meeting on outcome of 
audits and areas requiring improvement.  (May 
2016)

8.1

8.2

8.3 Delegated 
Authority 
recorded for all 
children and 
young people. 

Fostering 
Social Workers 
and Children’s 
Social Workers.
End of June 

There is inconsistent use of Delegated Authority and it 
being recorded and signed. 
Target: One Delegated Authority Form to be designed 
and used that covers all areas e.g. medical, 
education, social, religious and cultural needs. 

Form to be updated on Liberi. (July 2016)

Delegated Authority to be recorded on all placement 
plan arrangements and signed copy to be given to 
foster carer. 

P
age 53



2016
Review: Form being updated for Liberi – target for 
implementation September 2016. 

Delegated authority to be part of every audit. Any 
audit missing delegated authority will be rated 
inadequate and delegated authority to be in place  
within 5 days from audit.  

Target 9:  Staff support and supervision (NMS 24)
What do we 
want to 
achieve? 

Who will do it 
and by when? 

What have we achieved and what is our target? How will we measure 
the outcome 

9.1

A signed written 
record is kept by 
the fostering 
service of each 
staff member’s 
supervision. 

Team 
Managers, 
Head of 
Fostering 
By end of May 
2016

Staff supervision on casework is currently being 
recorded inconsistently on Liberi under case notes.  
Improvement required in analysis, signs of safety 
approach and any directed action regarding 
performance. 

Target: Template agreed by Assistant Director. 

Each area to set up electronic folder to store staff 
supervision that can be accessed by the County 
Manager and Assistant Director. 
Supervision template to be consistent across the 
county. 

Update June 2016: ACHIEVED
Supervision folders now set up for all Fostering 
staff, including Fostering Social workers and 
Team Managers. Supervision for Team Mangers 
by Assistant Directors to be saved electronically 
into shared area, for access by Assistant 
Director for corporate parenting and Head of 
Fostering. 

Each staff folder to contain:
Supervision agreement/contract
PDP’s/Action plans 
Supervision notes on agreed template
Record to confirm completion of mandatory 
training on Data Protection, Information 
Governance and PREVENT.

Case supervision to be recorded on Liberi on 

P
age 54



foster carers file.  Assistant Director and Head of 
Fostering to audit 2 staff supervision folders per 
area in August 2016.  

Target  10 Statement of Purpose (NMS 16)
What do we 
want to 
achieve? 

Who will do it 
and by when? 

What have we achieved and what is our target? How will we measure 
the outcome 

We want an 
ambitious 
fostering service 
that has a 
learning culture 
and builds on the 
strengths of our 
existing services 
for our children 
in care.  

Assistant 
Director for 
Corporate 
Parenting, 
Service 
Managers 
Head of 
Fostering

Kent Fostering Service has some excellent foster 
carers and specific schemes for children in care. 

Target: To review the current TRP scheme format, to 
ensure it provides best value for the funding required.
To build on the Disability Fostering Service by 
increasing the number of carers for short breaks.  
To use Serious Case Reviews to inform our practice 
and learn across the service how to make 
improvements. 

Review the Kent Statement of purpose (NMS 16.1) 
to ensure its aims and objectives are child focused 
and evidence how the service will achieve outcomes 
for children.  

Team Managers to use Serious Case Reviews in 
Team Meetings. 

Review: Innovation Bid report completed by 
Assistant Director June 2016. 

Innovation Bid 
Proposal June 2016 (3).docx

10.1

10.2

To develop a 
learning culture 
through joint 
training. 

Fostering Team 
Managers, 
Fostering 
Social Workers, 
Panel Members 
and Head of 
Fostering.   
October 2016

Training has been provided for panel members, 
fostering social workers, team Managers and Panel 
advisors but these have not been done jointly.

Target: To have a joint training day/conference for all 
Fostering Staff and Panel members. 

Paperless panels to be introduced with training for all 
panel members. 

To be organised for October 2016 and learning to be 
measured through evaluation 

Pilot for paperless panels to be in place by August 
2016. 

Review: Panel process for Permanency and 
Connected Persons assessments to be 
streamlined and paperwork reduced. (October 
2016)

P
age 55



Head of Fostering to deliver 2 half day seminars 
on Fostering Regulations to Team Managers 
between July and September 2016.  To develop 
an on line training on the fostering regulations 
with the training department, this will be 
mandatory for all fostering staff.  

Target  11: Promoting Independence and moves to adulthood and leaving care (NMS 12.1) 
What do we 
want to 
achieve? 

Who will do it 
and by when? 

What have we achieved and what is our target? How will we measure 
the outcome 

11.1 Kent Fostering 
Service to have 
comprehensive 
arrangements for 
preparing and 
supporting 
young people to 
make the 
transition to 
independence. 
(NMS 12.3)

County 
Fostering 
Manager 

County 
Manager 
18plus Care 
Leavers 
service.  

September 
2016

There is a clear policy for leaving care including 
Staying Put arrangements. This is detailed on Tri X 
and within the Fostering handbook. 

There will be a planned review of  the Staying Put 
policy to ensure there is an up to date leaflet and 
guidance for young people and foster carers.

To review Fostering Handbook guidance for leaving 
care and staying put.  

 Updated policy and leaflets by September 2016. 

To include policy for children that remain in 
secondary education after age 18, to enable foster 
carers to continue to be paid at fostering rate for 
period between 18th birthday and end of school year 
after this. 

P
age 56



From: Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health 
and Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 23 September 2016

Subject: KENT ADOPTION SERVICE - ANNUAL REPORT 
2015/2016

Classification: Unrestricted 

Electoral Division: All

Summary: This annual report attached as Appendix 1 sets out a detailed analysis of 
the performance of Kent’s Adoption Service in relation to the children’s adoption 
journeys between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016. The report also provides a 
summary of performance in relation to the adopters’ journey. It includes performance 
information between April and June 2016, in order to provide an up-to-date report on 
performance during the first quarter of the 2016/17.

Recommendations: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
CONSIDER the information contained within the report and COMMENT on the 
Adoption Service Performance for 2015/2016 and also COMMENT on the plans in 
place to deliver an ‘Outstanding’ service during 2016/17.

1. Context

1.1 The annual report for 2014/15 demonstrated an improvement, in the 
performance in relation to both ‘the Child’s Journey’ and ‘the Adopters’ Journey’ 
during that year.  The current report demonstrates continued improvements in 
performance during the last financial year despite a fall in the number of 
Adoption Orders granted.

1.2 There are exciting plans for further improvements set out in the Business Plan 
for 2016/2017, which includes the continuing contract with Coram, and the 
possibility of a Kent County Council, London Borough of Bexley and Medway 
Council Regional Adoption Agency.

2. Recommendations

2.1 Recommendation(s): Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
CONSIDER the information contained within the report and COMMENT on the 
Adoption Service Performance for 2015/2016 and also COMMENT on the plans in 
place to deliver an ‘Outstanding’ service during 2016/17.

Page 57

Agenda Item B2



3. Background Documents

None

4. Contact Details

Lead Officers
Geoff Gurney 
Interim Head of Adoption (until June 2016)

Sarah Skinner, 
Head of Adoption (from July 2016) 
03000 415090
sarah.skinner@kent.gov.uk    

Lead Director
Philip Segurola
Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 58

mailto:sarah.skinner@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk


Appendix 1

Kent 
Adoption 
Service
Annual 
Report 

April 2015 – 
March 2016

               Children’s Adoption
 Journey

Adopters’ Journey

Page 59



1. Overview

This annual report sets out a detailed analysis of the performance of Kent’s Adoption 
Service in relation to the children’s adoption journeys between 1 April 2015 and 31 
March 2016. The report also provides a summary of performance in relation to the 
adopters’ journey. It includes performance information between April and June 2016, 
in order to provide an up-to-date report on performance during the first quarter of the 
2016/17.

The contract between KCC and Coram expired on 22 January 2016 and the 
management of the adoption service transferred back to Kent. 

This report contains performance data and achievements sourced from information 
provided by Coram (their four year partnership report) and Kent’s Management 
Information Unit (MIU), as well as information from Adoption Service Performance 
Surgery meetings and Joint Tracking meetings with Child Care Service Managers and 
Team Managers.

This report provides information on:

1. Children adopted 
2. Placement Orders granted
3. Children currently placed for adoption, who are not yet adopted

a. Children placed for adoption not yet linked to an adoptive family
b. Children linked to a family
c. Children matched with a family

4. Children waiting at the end of March 2016: timescales, ethnicity, sibling status, age 
profile, developmental and health needs

5. Children with a plan that has changed
6. Children in court proceedings with a Plan for Adoption

Last year’s Annual Reports saw an improvement, and we have again seen 
improvements in performance this year, despite a fall in the number of Adoption 
Orders granted.

This report includes information about post adoption support, non-agency adoptions, 
inter country adoptions, work with birth parents and adoptive parents, and the work of 
the Panels team for this time period. It provides feedback received from adopters 
(Appendix 1). 

The final section of the report looks ahead to plans for further improvement set out in 
the Business Plan for 2016/2017, and includes information about a continuing contract 

Page 60



with Coram, and the possibility of a Kent County Council, the London Borough of 
Bexley and Medway Council Regional Adoption Agency. 

The Report starts with the national picture and a summary of statistics for Kent.

2. The National Picture

Adoption Leadership Board (ALB) Headline Measures 

2,060 children waiting at 30 September 2015 

This is a 33% decrease from 31 March 2015 when there were 3,060 children waiting 
with a placement order not yet placed with an adoptive family. 

38% of children waiting at 30 September 2015 had been waiting 18 months or more, a 
decrease from 53% as at 31 March 2015. 

Child timeliness has improved 

The time taken between a child entering care and being placed with a family (Adoption 
Scorecard indicator A1) has decreased by four months since 2012-13, from 22 months 
to 18 months in 2014-15.  The latest quarterly data suggests there has been a further 
improvement to 17 months during the first half of 2015-16.  These improvements have 
been driven by an increase in the proportion of children placed within a year, from 19% 
in 2012-13 to 39% in the first half of 2015-16. 

At eight months, the average number of days between placement order and match 
(Adoption Scorecard indicator A2) in 2014-15 has increased from seven months in 
2013-14 but is similar to 2012-13.  The latest quarterly data suggests that this has 
stayed the same at eight months during the first half of 2015-16. 

Adopter timeliness is beginning to improve 

The latest quarterly data suggests adopter timeliness is beginning to improve following 
a period of decline.  In quarter 2, 2015-16, 33% of approvals to become an adoptive 
family made by local authorities were made within six months of registration, an 
improvement on the low of 25% in quarter 4, 2014-15.  However this is still below the 
peak of 50% of registrations in quarter 2, 2013-14. 

Matching timeliness has declined

The timeliness of matches has declined.  In quarter 4, 2013-14, 80% of matches were 
made within six months of approval, compared to 53% in quarter 2, 2015-16. 

Other Key Headlines 

New Agency Decision Maker (ADM) decisions and placement orders granted 
have fallen 

Quarterly data suggests that the number of new decisions has continued to fall from 
1,850 in quarter 2, 2013-14 to 1,090 in quarter 2, 2015-16, a decrease of 41%. The 

Page 61



number of new placement orders has also continued to fall from 1,630 in quarter 2, 
2013-14 to 810 in quarter 2, 2015-16, a decrease of 50%. 

Children adopted from care has increased 

2014-15 saw the highest number of adoptions from care since the current data 
collection began in 1992, with 5,330 children adopted from care. Quarterly data 
suggests that the number of children adopted has been falling since quarter 2, 2014-
15 (from 1,370 to 960). 

Adoptive family approvals and registrations have decreased 

There have been 1,810 registrations to become and adoptive family in the first half of 
2015-16.  This equates to an annualised figure of 3,620 which if it manifests, would 
represent a fall of 37% compared to 2014-15 (decreases of 39% for Local Authorities 
and 26% for Voluntary Adoption Agencies). 

There have been 1,960 adoptive families approved for adoption in the first half of 
2015-16. This equates to an annualised figure of 3,920, which if it manifests, would 
represent a fall of 26% compared to 2014-15 (decreases of 27% for Local Authorities 
and 19% for Voluntary Adoption Agencies). 

The most recent estimate for the “adopter gap” suggests that the gap has closed, and 
we now have more adoptive families than children waiting.  However, there are still 
1,820 children with a placement order not yet matched and the relevance of this 
measure assumes that matching is working effectively.  There are still not enough 
adopters for hard to place children.

Reversal of decision 

Of the children reported to have had their decision reversed during 2015-16, 29% were 
due to the court not making a placement order, a further increase on 2014-15.  
However, this year, the proportional increase has been driven by a fall in the number 
of prospective adopters not being found. 

Summary Statistics for Kent

The children’s adoption journey

1. Between 1 April 2015 and 31March 2016, 108 children were adopted, 41% fewer 
adoptions than last year (182 children). 

2. On 31 March 2016, 54 children were placed for adoption but not yet adopted (66 
at the same time last year).

3. Between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016, 89 children were placed with an 
adoptive family, 38% fewer children than in the same period in 2014/15 (143 
children).  This includes five relinquished babies and six disabled children. One 
child was placed with voluntary adoption agency adopters, one was placed with 
relatives.

Page 62



4. Between 1 April 2015 and 31March 2016 the ADM agreed matches for 86 
children, 41% lower than in the same period in 2014/15 (145 children).

5. Between 1 April 2015 and 31March 2016, 91 children were granted a Placement 
Order, a 15% increase on the number of Placement Orders granted in the same 
period in 2014/15 (78 children).

6. Between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016, 28 children’s plans were changed from 
adoption, a 7% decrease on the number of plans changed in 2014/15 (31 
children). 

7. Between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016 the ADM agreed the plan for adoption 
for 113 children, 27% more than in the same period last year (89). 

8. As of 30 June 2016 there were 18 children are in care proceedings with an agency 
decision for adoption but no Placement Order.

Improvement Table

Time in Months

Time from entering care (BLA) to moving in with an adoptive family (PLACEMENT) for    
children adopted (the target is 14 months).

X As above but only for children placed this year

Time from the Agency approval of an adoption (ADM-BI) to an adoption panel have 
been to panel for match (target is 6 months).

*
Time from entering care (BLA) to the Agency approval of an adoption plan (ADM-BI) 
(the target is 6 months). 

Time from the LA receiving court authority to place a child for adoption (PO) to the 
approval of a match with an adoptive family (MATCH) for children adopted (the target 
is 4 months) 

Page 63



3. The Adopters Journey

The Recruitment and Assessment team is provided with data from the Initial Enquiry 
Team (shared with Fostering Service until March this year), who are responsible for 
taking the initial calls from members of the public who are interested in enquiring about 
adoption.  The team continues to use a spread sheet based tool that captures data for 
the whole adopter’s journey and use it to support effective performance management 
of every adoptive family, from enquiry to assessment to approval, and from linking, 
matching and the placement of children until the granting of an Adoption Order.

In March 2015 the recruitment of adopters was put on hold because of the number of 
existing approved adopters and the fall in the number of children being granted a 
Placement Order.  The Adoption Service started recruiting again from March this year.

As at 31 March 2016 there were 50 households approved and waiting for placements 
with 26 households not linked to a child.

Total approved  & waiting adopter 
households 

50
Households with no link

26

Matching panels booked
4

Approved less than 6 months
5

Selected for match but panel not 
yet booked 7 Approved for between 6-11 

months

13

Linked with a child
6

Approved for 12 - 23 months
6

On hold 7 Approved for 2 years or more 2

To be de-registered

0

Adopters approved in 2015/16: April 2015 to June 2015 - 24; July 2015 to September 
2015 - 22; October 2015 to December 2015 - 13; January 2016 to March 2016 - 6.

As at 30 June 2016 there were 44 households approved and waiting for placements 
with 25 households not linked to a child.

Page 64



Total approved  & waiting adopter 
households 

44
Households with no link

25

Matching panels booked
3

Approved less than 6 months
3

Selected for match but panel not 
yet booked 6 Approved for between 6-

11 months

9

Linked with a child
3 Approved for 12 - 23 

months
10

On hold 
7 Approved for 2 years or 

more
3

To be de-registered

0

The active recruitment of adopters is in progress:

Number of enquiries since March 2016  
(when enquiries were opened)

127 Households

Number of information Events 6 in total – 4 in March & 2 in June
Number of people who have attended 
information Events since March 2016

90 Households – 167 people

Number of initial visits booked from March & 
June events

69 Households

Number of people who have been accepted 
to assessment – 

20 Households (in addition 2 repeat 
adopters households are now being 
assessed without attending another 

info event)

Feedback from these events has been very positive. The content covers the local and 
national picture for adoption, the assessment and approval process (see below), and 
some initial information about our Foster to Adopt scheme for early placements when 
approved adopters can become foster carers for children before a Placement Order is 
granted by the Courts.

Page 65



K ent A d opt ion S ervic e
Getting it right for children

The two-stage process

Pre-stage 1
(10 days)

Stage 1
(2 months)

ROI 
approval 
(5 days)

Stage 2
(4 months)

You are
here

There can be a break of
up to six months 

between Stage 1 and 2

You can take a break 
before Stage 1

4. The Children’s Journey

CHILDREN ADOPTED 

Year on year in Kent

APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR
2016 12 15 7 12 5 8 4 10 6 5 10 14

Compared with
2015 12 24 21 12 14 20 18 8 17 17 10 9

108 Adoption Orders granted in 2015/16 compared with 182 in 2014/15
Including 5 relinquished babies (No Placement Orders) in each year.

The last 5 years (latest published figures)

Page 66



The Top 10 Local Authorities

2013 2014 2015
105 Kent 145 Kent 180
95 Birmingham 120 Leeds 120
90 Leeds 110 Lancashire 120
75 Essex 110 Birmingham 110
75 Suffolk 95 Norfolk 105
75 Nottinghamshire 90 Essex 95
70 Lancashire 85 Nottinghamshire 95
70 Hertfordshire 85 Hampshire 85
60 Staffordshire 85 Derbyshire 80
60 Norfolk 80 Bradford 75

Kent (population 1,510,354) is the largest authority in terms of population, but Essex 
(1,431,953) and Lancashire (1,184,735) and Birmingham (1,101,360) are not much smaller.

Percentage of children in care adopted during the year

This is the number of children adopted from care as a percentage of all children ceasing to 
be looked after in that year.

Placement Orders

In Public Law care proceedings, Placement Orders give the Local Authority permission to 
place a child with approved adopters.

Numbers of placement orders granted 2015-2016

APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR
2016 5 9 4 12 11 5 9 9 6 6 9 6

Compared with
2015 12 6 10 5 3 4 3 10 7 6 11 1

91 Placement Orders made in 2015/16 compared with 78 2014/15

Children currently placed for adoption who are not yet adopted

In Kent, as at 31 March 2016, 54 children were placed for adoption but not yet adopted (66 
at the same time last year).

As of 30 June 2016 there were 49 with 15 of these children placed for between six and 12 
months, and five for more than 12 months.

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
England 11 13 14 17 17
South East 10 11 14 17 18
Kent 8 8 12 17 21

Page 67



The arrival of a new child is a time of significant change for the whole family.  Our adoption 
social worker and the child’s social worker will be available to support them, and the 
adopters are eligible to take statutory adoption leave and pay (unless they are self-
employed). 

This means they can take time to get to know their child and build the rhythms of family life. 
During this time adopters have joint parental responsibility with the birth parents and the 
agency, though the balance of parental responsibility will vary depending on each individual 
case.

We request that adoptive parents or one if a couple, spend a minimum of six months at 
home when a child is first placed, depending on their age, in order to help them to get to 
know each other.  This enables adopters to begin to build a trusting relationship with their 
child and encourage emotional bonds to develop.

During this period of learning to live together social workers continue to visit and support 
until the time feels right to apply to the court for an Adoption Order.

The minimum period before applying for an Adoption Order is ten weeks, and the 
expectation is that adopters make their application for an order at the earliest opportunity.

Once they have applied for an Adoption Order and the court grants this, the child is legally 
adopted by them and they have full parental responsibilities for him or her. The child is now 
a full member of their family and can take their surname.

If birth parents do not agree to adoption, there are circumstances in which the court can 
override their wishes. Again the detailed process will depend on which country is involved. 
In many cases the court will consider the question of consent before the child is placed for 
adoption. A children’s guardian (England and Wales) or a curator ad litem (Scotland) or a 
Guardian ad litem (Northern Ireland) will be appointed by the court to investigate and give 
advice to the court on the child’s best interests. In some circumstances, it will be necessary 
for the question of consent to be considered when the adopters actually apply for the final 
adoption order.

The delay between placement and the adopters applying to the courts for an adoption order 
can arise because they are worried about support after the order, because of legal 
challenged by the birth parents, or because the child is not settling well and there are 
concerns about a possible adoption breakdown, called a disruption.
 
Our procedure of regular (monthly) Performance Surgeries and Joint Tracking Meetings 
ensures that we continually review the time taken between placing children and the 
application (by the adopters) for an Adoption Order.

Children placed for Adoption

Between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016, 89 children were placed with an adoptive family, 
38% fewer children than in the same period in 2014/15 (143 children).

Of the 108 Adoption Orders granted only 43 were placed in this 12 months period.

Page 68



The number of placement breakdowns has remained fairly consistent over the last four 
years.  One placement disrupted between 1 April 2012 and 31 March 2013, three in 
2013/14, two in 2014/15 and three between 1 April 2015 and 22 January 2016. 

There were three disruptions in this 12 month period, involving five children of which there 
were two sibling groups of two.  One sibling group of two boys (eight and ten years of age) 
placement broke down after five months; both children had complex needs and disabilities.  
The plan for these children is now long-term fostering.  

Another disruption happened after only a few days, involving a sibling group of two boys 
(seven and three years of age).  It has now been decided to separate the boys because of 
the older child’s complex needs, and the youngest child is now linked with a Kent adopter.

The final disruption happened after a few days and the three year old girl who was returned 
to her foster carers who are now being assessed as adopters for her.

The placement breakdowns mainly related to placement of sibling groups and/or children 
with complex needs. Learning from these placement breakdowns has been shared at 
operational meetings with colleagues in the social care teams and within the adoption 
service. The information and analysis has also been discussed at the Adoption Panels that 
recommended approval of the adopters and the match.

Children matched with a family

Between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016, 86 children were matched with an adoptive 
family, 41% fewer children than in the same period in 2014/15 (145 children).

Children waiting at the end of March 2016

Timescales, ethnicity, sibling status, age profile, developmental and health needs

As of 31 March 2016 there were 15 children waiting for an adoptive family; seven boys and 
eight girls. Their profile was as follows: 

 Three were aged one and under, seven were aged two to four years and five were 
aged five and over.

 13 of these children are white; two are dual heritage: White/Black Caribbean.
 Six children in sibling group of two, and nine single children. 
 Seven children with a disability, including developmental delay.
 At the time of finalising the report (31 July 2016), we have 23 children (13 families) 

for whom the Adoption service is actively family finding for.  This consists of three x 
three sibling groups, three x two siblings groups, seven single children and one child 
for whom family finding has been put on hold at the request of their social worker. 

 The Family Finding Team social workers are constantly monitoring these children 
seeking to identify adoptive parents from within our Kent approved and Waiting 
group, but also looking to other Adoption Agencies via Inter Agency agreements. 

 The Adoption Service will be taking part in a Coram/BAAF joint activity day in 
September, alongside Sussex and Surrey Local Authorities.

Page 69



More comparisons

2013-2014 2014-2015 2015-2016
ADM decision for a 
plan for adoption 179 93 113

Children
placed 170 143 89

Placement Orders 164 79 91
Matches approved 172 145 86
Adoption
Orders 145 182 108

Between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016 the ADM agreed the plan for adoption for 113 
children, 27% more than in the same period last year (89). 

Yet the most recently available national figures (Quarterly data from the Adoption 
Leadership Board (ALB) suggests that the number of new decisions has continued to fall 
from 1,850 in quarter 2 2013-14 to 1,090 in quarter 2 2015-16, a decrease of 41%. 

The number of new placement orders have also continued to fall from 1,630 in quarter 2 
2013-14 to 810 in quarter 2 2015-16, a decrease of 50%.

Ages of the children

2013-2014 2014-2015 2015-2016
1 and under 84 50 54
2 to 4 61 22 24
5 and over 19 7 13
Placement Orders 164 79 91

Children with a plan that has changed away from Adoption

Between 1 April 2015 and 31March 2016, 28 children’s plans were changed from adoption, 
a 7% decrease on the number of plans changed in 2014/15 (31 children). 

Children in court proceedings with a plan for Adoption

From April 2015 to March 2016 there were 16 children in care proceedings with an agency 
decision for adoption but no Placement Order.

5. Year on Year improvements
The Adoption Service tracks the following timescales: 

Became Looked After to Agency Decision Maker Best Interest Decision (BLA-
ADM BI)

Time from entering care (BLA) to the Agency approval of an adoption plan (ADM-BI) 
(the target is 6 months).  This takes into account the adoption plan being agreed by 
the second child in care statutory review.  The service annual performance against this 
measure has improved, from 357 days (11.8 months) in 2012/13 to 195 days (6.4 

Page 70



months) in 2013/14 to 148 days (4.9 months) in 2014/15 and 156 days (5 months) in 
2015/16. 

ADM BI to Match Panel

Time from the Agency approval of an adoption (ADM-BI) to an adoption panel 
considering a match with an adoptive family (PANEL MATCH) for the children who 
have been to panel for match (target is 6 months).  The panel should consider a match 
with an adoptive family within six months of the best interest decision being made.  
Annual performance against this measure has remained relatively stable until 2015/16.  
In 2012/13 the average time it took from best interest decision to presentation to panel 
of a match was 311 days (11.1 months), 280 days (10 months) in 2013/14 and 314 
days (11.2 months) in 2014/15.  However, this dropped to 165 days (5.9 months) in 
2015/16 where performance dramatically improved to below the 6-month target.  
Indeed, 71.4% of the children met this timescale between 1 April 2015 and 22January 
2016 (Coram report), compared to 37% in 2012/13, 36% in 2013/14 and 40% in 
2014/15. 

BLA to placement

Time from entering care (BLA) to moving in with an adoptive family (placed) for 
children adopted (the target is 14 months)   This is the most often quoted national 
indicator (A1) when averaged over the past three years. 

Kent can demonstrate year on year improvement, from 718 days (25.6 months) in 
2012/13 to 650 days (23.2 months) in 2013/14 to 531 days (19 months) in 2014/15.  
From 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2016 the average time taken from entering care and 
moving in with an adoptive family decreased to 487 days (17.4 months).  This included 
a case where a child was adopted by family members who lived in the USA, and the 
delay was due to the legal processes that needed to be followed to achieve this – 
excluding this case brings the average down to 469 days (16.7 months).  Indeed, 67 
out of 107 children (63%) of the children adopted between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 
2016 met the 14 month target (426 days) in 2015/16, compared to 18% in 2014/15, 
21% in 2013/14 and 46% in 2014/15. 

The time taken historically to place children impacts upon this measure and in order to 
get a more accurate measure of current performance, the service measures this 
performance for children placed that year.  Performance by financial year for children 
placed shows continuous improvement from 692 days in 2012/13 (22.8 months) to 560 
days in 2013/14 (18.4 months) to 542 days (17.8 months) in 2014/15 and 332 days 
(11.8 months) between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016.

Placement Order (PO) to match

The time from the Local Authority receiving court authority to place a child for adoption 
(PO) to the approval of a match with an adoptive family (MATCH) for children adopted 
(the target is four months)  Annual performance against this measure has been 
improving, from 243 days (8.7 months) in 2012/13, to 224 days (8 months) and 208 
days (7.4 months) in 2014/15.  However, performance against this measure has not 
improved for children in the period between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016. On 
average it took 222 days (7.9 months) from placement order to match.  Again, this 

Page 71



figure is affected by the child adopted by family members in the USA; excluding this 
child the figure reduces to 203 days (7.3 months). 

There is improvement with 62 out of 102 (61%) children meeting the four month target 
in 2015/16, compared to 34%, 34 out of 100 children in 2012/13, 28.6%, 40 out of 140 
children in 2013/14 and 36.5%, 65 out of 179 children in 2014/15. 

6. Post Adoption Support

The Coram vision for this model, as developed since 2014, was based on recognition 
that adopters and adopted children require timely and skilled clinical and social work 
expertise in-house.  The approach was developed in conjunction with adopters and the 
Tavistock Institute. 

We still have Coram as a development and innovations partner, and we recognise that 
adoption can have a lifelong impact on both children and adults. 

Services across Kent following the granting of an Adoption Order are provided by a 
multi-disciplinary team that understands the complex issues which can arise in families 
formed through adoption.  The team consists of clinicians from a variety of clinical and 
social work backgrounds.

There are 1206 families living in Kent who have adopted (from February 2000 to May 
2016), and 1643 adopted children. 

 786 families with one adopted child 
 345 families with two adopted children 
 68 families with three adopted children 
Six families with four adopted children
One family with five adopted children

K ent A d opt ion S ervic e
Getting it right for children

ADOPTIVE FAMILIES BY DISTRICT IN APRIL 2016

Page 72

https://www.gov.uk/child-adoption/applying-for-an-adoption-court-order


Out of 1643 children, 126 were placed in Kent by other Local Authorities.  This gives an 
indication of the volume of potential need.

From April 2015 to March 2016, 263 new enquiries were made to the post adoption advice 
line.  Below is a breakdown of those enquiries according to type of referral, contact method, 
work type and referrer.

Month

Adoption

SGO

Foster

N
/A

Self/relative

Prof/Agency

Telephone

Em
ail

Letter

Face to face

Clinical

Clerical

Apr-15 11 0 1 0 7 5 5 7 0 0 11 1
May-15 17 2 0 0 11 8 7 12 0 0 13 6
Jun-15 38 5 0 0 31 12 24 19 0 0 29 14
Jul-15 34 2 0 0 19 17 16 19 0 1 23 13

Aug-15 19 1 0 0 8 12 7 12 1 0 15 5
Sep-15 19 0 0 0 15 3 11 7 0 0 18 0
Oct-15 24 0 0 0 10 14 12 12 0 0 19 5
Nov-15 17 0 0 0 13 4 8 9 0 0 15 2
Dec-15 10 0 0 0 7 3 7 3 0 0 7 3
Jan-16 26 0 0 0 24 2 16 10 0 0 22 4
Feb-16 12 2 0 0 9 5 9 5 0 0 13 1
Mar-16 23 0 0 0 17 6 12 11 0 0 22 1
TOTALS 250 12 1 0 171 91 134 126 1 1 207 55

263 262 262 262

207 of the 263 new enquiries (78.7%) were requests for support for children with emotional, 
behavioural and mental health difficulties.

As of April 2016 the team was providing intensive support to 80 children with complex 
emotional, behavioural and mental health difficulties as well 68 children with less intensive 
requirements.  The remaining 127 children/families (out of the total of 207 clinical referrals) 
have received an intervention which was opened and closed within this six month period. 

The majority of referrals fall between ages 5-16 with a reasonable spread within this age 
range.

Age Total
0-4 7
5-8 34

9-12 20
13-17 19

Page 73



Parent Support Groups

One support group was run during 2015/16 in East Kent and attended by six parents 
looking after eight children.

Approved and waiting support groups were held in, June and July 2016, 
Group One: Six couples attended
Group Two: Seven couples attended

Post adoption Learning and Development Programme

19 workshops were organised and attended by a total of 271 adoptive parents.

Webster Stratton Incredible Years Intensive Parenting Programme

The programme was delivered from October to January and was attended by 11 
parents from six families.

Adoption Parties

250 people attended the 2015 Christmas Party.  115 of the attendees were children 
and 135 parents also attended.

158 people attended the 2015 Summer Party.  65 of the attendees were children and 
93 parents also attended.

The Adoption Support Fund

Since May (when the fund began) the Kent Post Adoption Support service has made a 
number of successful applications to the Adoption Support Fund (ASF) on behalf of a 
large number of named children.

116 applications to the value of £380,678 were made between May 2015 and March 
2016 and of expenditure to the value of £380,678 was approved.

Family (multiple) 50         
Individual 29         
Parent 16 
Training 17
Support Group   4

Individual therapy and support is augmented by an advice line and the availability of 
consultations, group work support when appropriate, and an extensive programme of 
Learning and Development courses.

7. Non Agency Work

Non agency adoption includes all those categories of adoption where the adoption 
agency and the adoption panel do not play a part in the placement of the child for 
adoption.  These are:

Page 74



Partner adoptions (formally known as step parent adoption);
Anyone who has had care of the child (for any three year period in the past five 

years);
 Local authority foster parent(s) proceeding without the support of the social care.

In Kent non-agency adoption work is completed by a team of 4 social workers, and the 
team provides general advice and information for prospective adopters, and for social 
workers and other professionals.

All non-agency adoptions have similar characteristics and there is a basic format 
comprising referral, counseling, provision of written information, assessment and 
preparation of the Annex A report for court. 

The team also assesses and provides support up to the point of a Special 
Guardianship Order being granted for those families who are making a private 
application. 

As the data below suggests, the team has a high volume of work against the staffing 
resources allocated. This team has worked hard to produce high quality work and 
have been commended by the judges.

March 2015 March2016

Families assessments in progress 55 67

Families on the waiting list 71 61

When the budget allows, additional (agency) staffing is used to reduce the waiting list.

K ent A d opt ion S ervic e
Getting it right for children

NON AGENCY TEAM – PAST ACTIVITY
2011-2012 2012-2013 2013-2014 2014 -2015 2015-2016

Ini al
enquiries 100 130 142 85 118
No ces of
intent 53 86 92 53 75
Completed
assessments 56 77 64 59 77
Adop ons 43 56 40 34 43
Private SGOs 2 11 1

Page 75



8. Inter Country Adoptions

Kent has a contract with the Intercountry Adoption Centre (IAC).  A Service Level 
Agreement is in place for the intercountry adoption assessments.  This is open to local 
authorities who already subscribe to IAC’s services.  This is a full service provided 
from the point of enquiry until the child enters the UK with the adopters. 

The service includes provision for first time adopters, adopting again, and kinship 
applicants or those who have already identified (and sometimes adopted) the child in 
the State of origin.  IAC specialist knowledge of adoption procedures and practices in 
States of origin and its involvement in the adoption application up to the time the child 
arrives in the UK can bring clear casework benefits, and in addition reduces costs to 
the Local Authority, for example in relation to social work practitioner and management 
time, panel time and administrative time.

The contract asks for six monthly reports and expects a half-yearly contract monitoring 
meeting.

9. Support of Birth families and Adoptive Families
 

For the past two years the Council’s Adoption Service has commissioned Connecting 
Adoptive Families Independent Services (CAFIS) from Barnardo’s.

 
CAFIS work to support both people who have been adopted, and their birth families:

Help for adopted adults to:

 find their adoption records
 find their birth family or organise reunions
make contact with their birth family

CAFIS run a letterbox (indirect contact) service for birth families and adoptive families.
 

Before that a similar service was commissioned from Action for Children.

10. Adoption Panels

The panel team comprises three administrative staff, one full time team manager/panel 
adviser and one part time – four day a week - panel adviser.  Three panels sit each 
month and there are, on average, two to three adoption plans to be presented to the 
ADMs (the Area Assistant Directors) every week (based on 113 adoption plans agreed 
in year 2015 -2016). 

The panel advisers have been interim appointments until very recently.  There have 
been as many as seven different advisers in the last two years and it is to the team’s 
credit that they have continued to manage the workflow and meet regulatory 
requirements.  With the team’s new permanent appointments to the Panel Adviser 
posts, and a permanent Head of Adoption also recently appointed,(see below) it is an 
appropriate moment to consolidate the good work of the team.

Page 76



A recent review (June 2016) by an external Consultant concludes that overall the 
current functioning of the adoption panel team is good.  There is a strong base from 
which to consolidate good work, develop better practice in weaker areas, and focus on 
demonstrating excellence going forward.

11. Service Stability and the Future

Staffing

The contract between KCC and Coram expired on 22 January 2016 and the 
management of the adoption service transferred back to Kent and the Head of 
Adoption position was held by an Interim Manager.

The plan at that time was to continue the high achievement performance culture 
established by Coram whilst settling the service back into Kent management, and 
recruiting to a number of posts that had remained vacant or ‘agency’ for some time.

A permanent Head of Adoption has been in post since July 2016, accountable to the 
permanent Assistant Director for Corporate Parenting, 

The service has five Team Managers in its establishment and four of these are now 
permanent staff, and there is a plan to recruit to the remaining permanent Team 
Manager positon in the Non-Agency Team by January 2017.  This post is currently 
held by an Interim who has worked with the service since Coram’s Management.

Recruitment of social workers has also been a priority and plans are in progress to 
recruit to the remaining 4 vacant positons.

12. The Business Plan

The Business Plan for 2016/2017 makes use of the National Minimum Standards 
(NMS) applicable to the provision of adoption services.  The NMS values statements 
explain the important principles which underpin these Standards, and are used in the 
Business Plan to show the targets and expected outcomes.

12.1 The child’s welfare, safety and needs are at the centre of the adoption process.

Whilst there is evidence of the service putting children first and getting it right for 
children, we do need to improve our recording of progress and outcomes.  Audits of 
individual cases need to show good or outstanding results by the Adoption Service 
and by the efforts of the service and Children in Care team colleagues working 
together.

12.2 Adopted children should have an enjoyable childhood, and benefit from excellent 
parenting and education, enjoying a wide range of opportunities to develop their 
talents and skills leading to a successful adult life.  Children are entitled to grow up as 
part of a loving family that can meet their developmental needs during childhood and 
beyond.

This will result from the successful recruitment and assessment of suitable adopters by 
the Adoption Service, and the appropriate recommendation of the Adoption Panels to 
the Agency Decision Makers.  We need to have enough competent and caring 
adopters to provide loving homes for the hardest to place children. 

Page 77



We also need to be successful with the continuing growth and use of our ‘Fostering for 
Adoption’ scheme.  This allows approved adopters to also be approved as foster 
carers so that babies (0 to two years) can be placed at the earliest possible stage with 
potentially permanent carers.  The adults are aware of the risk that the court may not 
agree with the local authorities’ plan of adoption and the uncertainty of the child’s 
development.  Such placements present less risk to the child of a placement move.  
The Recruitment and Assessment team must introduce fostering for adoption as a 
desired scheme at Information Events and continue the discussion at Individual Visits 
and during assessment visits. 

We will facilitate an additional days training for prospective adopters who want to be 
considered for a child under the Fostering for Adoption scheme.  Coram continues to 
help develop our practice.

12.3 Children’s wishes and feelings are important and will be actively sought and fully taken 
into account at all stages of the adoption process. 

Our family finding and matching procedures do consider children’s wishes and 
feelings. More obviously through talking and using direct work with children aged three 
and over, but also by observation and inference with babies and toddlers. 

Children placed for adoption are Children in Care, and the service needs to work more 
closely with Independent Reviewing Officers to improve our practice in this area.

12.4 Delays should be avoided as they can have a severe impact on the health and 
development of the children waiting to be adopted. 

The last four years of measuring and monitoring (numbers and timescales) has shown 
an amazing improvement in performance, but it is important not to be complacent.  
Coram’s introduction of a case progression system that uses Performance Surgeries 
(with Adoption Service staff and managers) and Joint Tracking meetings (with Children 
in Care Service Managers and Team Managers) must continue and every child with a 
plan for adoption must be monitored and subject to action planning that moves things 
along as quickly as possible, but whilst ensuring that the child receives a good service. 

It will be important to improve the tracking of every child from the time they become 
‘looked after’, even before the plan becomes adoption. 

The Adoption Service must be notified of all children at this early stage, or take steps 
to find out about them before being notified.

12.5 A sense of identity is important to a child’s well-being.  To help children develop this, 
their ethnic origin, cultural background, religion, language and sexuality need to be 
properly recognised and positively valued and promoted.  The particular needs of 
disabled children and children with complex needs will be fully recognised and taken 
into account.

Whilst it is true that the majority of children needing adoptive parents and the adoptive 
parents themselves are White British, some are not, and there are other aspects of 
identity that need to be better understood.

Page 78



Siblings, older children and children with complex needs are our ‘harder to place’ 
children and the Adoption Service must improve its ability to place these children with 
loving families and avoid waiting too long.

12.6 Where a child cannot be cared for in a suitable manner in their own country, 
intercountry adoption may be considered as an alternative means of providing a 
permanent family. 

Whilst the numbers are small and continuing to decline, we must make sure that these 
children and their adoptive families get the help and support they need.  Continuing 
the contract with the ICA will guarantee this.

12.7 Children, birth parents/guardians and families and adoptive parents and families will be 
valued and respected. 

The large number of requests from families and individuals for support do offer a 
challenge but the Post Adoption Support Team (Coram and KCC working in 
partnership) and CAFIS (KCC and Barnardo’s working in partnership) must continue to 
deliver good or outstanding services. 

12.8 A genuine partnership between all those involved in adoption is essential for the NMS 
to deliver the best outcomes for children; this includes the Government, local 
government, other statutory agencies, Voluntary Adoption Agencies and Adoption 
Support Agencies. 

The Adoption Service cannot deliver the desired results on its own.  We need Children 
in Care teams to persevere with joint tracking, and keep a focus on the child and the 
child’s timescales.  We need Coram, Barnardo’s and other voluntary sector partners to 
work with us to achieve good outcomes for children and performance improvements.  
We need Health colleagues to continue to help with medical advice for children and 
adopters.  Similarly for Legal Services for advice and help with complex cases.  We 
need the Judiciary and Children and Family Court Advisory Support Service 
(CAFCASS) and others to help with the development of early placement initiatives, 
and with the placements of individual children.

13. A Regional Adoption Agency (RAA)

A recent DFE paper, ‘Adoption: A Vision for Change’ (March 2016) sets out the reform 
programme in relation to Regional Adoption Agencies (RAAs), with all Local 
Authorities expected to be a part of a RAA by 2020.  This includes the development of 
early placement initiatives; the use of the adoption support fund (extended to 2020) for 
special guardianship carers and inter-country adopters; the payment of the inter-
agency placement fee (extended to July 2016); the development of specialist mental 
health support for adopted children; increasing the role of adopters’ and children’s 
voices; changes to legislation, including revised regulations in relation to special 
guardianship assessments; the further strengthening of performance management and 
accountability arrangements; and timely placements for children. 

In recent months the London Borough of Bexley, Medway Council and KCC have been 
discussing a proposal for a RAA that brings the three Local Authorities closer together 
for the good of all children considered for adoption.

Page 79



The DfE have made it clear that there should be a VAA (a Voluntary Adoption Agency) 
involved as an equal partner, and that any proposal for an RAA should set out clearly 
how joining together will lead to improvements and outcomes for children.  This too is 
being discussed by Senior Officers within KCC to ensure the vital component is in 
place.

14. Conclusion

The annual report for 2014/15 demonstrated an improvement in the performance in 
relation to both ‘the child’s Journey’ and ‘the Adopters Journey’ during that year.  The 
current report demonstrates continued improvements in performance during the last 
financial year despite a fall in the number of Adoption Orders granted. 

There are exciting plans for further improvements set out in the Business Plan for 
2016/2017, which includes the continuing contract with Coram, and the possibility of a 
Kent, Bexley and Medway Regional Adoption Agency.

Page 80



Appendix 1

Feedback
“Thank you for all you have done in support of us. The security, joy and 

stability in our children’s life story continues to flourish, thanks to the 

professionalism, guidance and support that continues to be readily available 

to us as their adoptive parents from KCC Adoption Service.” (Kent Adopter)

“What the service gave us was an ability to listen, to understand the 

complexities and subtleties of the adoption dynamic, ability to access 

appropriate services and hope.” (Kent Adopter)

“Without the support from the Post Adoption service I think I would have 

struggled more to embrace family life amongst friends and other parents who 

had had birth children and some of whom viewed me, as a source of interest, 

rather than just another parent.” (Kent Adopter)

“The Annual Conference was a brilliant initiative in bringing together 

adopters, staff and judiciary. The last Conference (July 2015) which covered 

life story work was an eye opener for many of us, including one of the Family 

Court Judges who attended.”

(Former Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s Services, Kent County 

Council) 

“So if you create that level of open transparency that then would trickle down 

to people that we work with, children, adopters, etc. The website's clearer. 

The journey to adoption is clearer. Confidence of adopters spread like the 

flu.” (Service Manager, Children’s Social Care)

“So the biggest positive for me and the biggest change I've seen to the 

adoption service is inclusivity…is working alongside children in care in a 

much more clearer, open and transparent way. So that's been a huge 

positive.” (Service Manager, Children’s Social Care)

“Coram also learnt a lot from this longstanding partnership - the first of its 

kind - and is particularly grateful that Kent placed its trust in Coram to 

deliver better outcomes for children and adopters. Coram continues to apply 

this learning in their partnerships with other local authorities so that more 

children benefit from Kent’s readiness to develop innovative approaches to 

improving adoption services.” (Coram Report May 2016)

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



By: Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health and 
Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 23 September 2016

Subject: UNACCOMPANIED ASYLUM SEEKING CHILDREN UPDATE

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions: All

Summary:  Since June 2015, Kent County Council has seen an unprecedented rise in 
the numbers of Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) arriving in the 
county and subsequently entering its care.  As the Council received referrals for over 
950 UASC in the 2015 calendar year, it sought urgent assistance from Other Local 
Authorities and Central Government to ensure children looked after were able to 
access appropriate places to live, in addition to receiving timely social work, medical 
and therapeutic interventions. 

Through close collaboration and cooperation with the Local Government Association 
(LGA), Association for the Directors of Children’s Services (ADCS), Department for 
Education (DfE) and the Home Office, an Interim National Transfer Protocol became 
operational on 1 July 2016.

This paper provides an update on the current status and future of Kent’s services for 
UASC alongside national ‘dispersal’.

It builds on reports presented to the Children’s Services Improvement Panel (28 July 
2015), Children’s Social Care and Health Cabinet Committee (2 December 2015), and 
County Council (22 October 2015); alongside verbal updates regularly given to the 
Children’s Social Care and Health Cabinet Committee, Corporate Parenting Panel and 
Children’s Services Improvement Panel.

Recommendations:  The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to CONSIDER and 
COMMENT ON the information provided within this report.

1. Context

1.1 During 2014, there were relatively static numbers of unaccompanied children and 
young people entering Kent’s care.  On 1 December 2014, the former UASC 
service (which supported children and 18+ young people) was dissolved. 
Services for unaccompanied children aged 17 and under were integrated into the 
wider Children in Care services.  This move coincided with the former Catch 22 
provided services being brought in-house and made into a county-wide, 
Integrated 18+ Care Leavers’ Service.  The move was designed to aid 

Page 83

Agenda Item B3



transparency, improve consistency of practice and accessibility to support for all 
children and young people, regardless of their background or nationality. 

1.2 During early 2015, however, and in the run up to June 2015, there was a steady 
month on month increase in the numbers of UASC arriving in Kent and becoming 
accommodated.  June 2015 marked the beginning of an accelerating challenge 
within the county, as increasing pressure was put on both KCC services and the 
services of partner agencies (e.g. Kent Police and local NHS, among others). 
This is well documented within both national and local news.

Figure 1: Unaccompanied children referred to KCC in 2015

Figure 2: Unaccompanied children referred to KCC in 2016, to date (*31.07.16) 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Total 
for 
2016

35 28 35 48 31 32 47 - - - - 256*

1.3 In previous years, Specialist Children’s Services would see a significant decrease 
in the numbers of children arriving alone in the UK over winter with five to 15 
children arriving per month into the Council’s care. 

1.4 Since the summer of 2015, however, the numbers of children and young people 
risking the journey into the UK between October 2015 and April 2016 has 
continued to be higher, with, on average, 36-37 children per month entering the 
Council’s care.  This is a direct reflection of the 90,000 unaccompanied children 
who registered for asylum in Europe during 2015 (figures from EuroStat, the 
official statistics office of the European Union), quadruple the number of children 
who sought asylum in EU states during 2014. 

Figure 3: Total numbers of unaccompanied minors looked after by KCC

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Total 
for 
2015

31 18 29 14 42 105 180 128    98  212    51     41 951

Page 84

http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/documents/2995521/7244677/3-02052016-AP-EN.pdf/


1.5 Overall numbers of unaccompanied children in the Council’s care decreased at 
the beginning of 2016.  This was primarily due to the high numbers of older 
teenagers having their 18th birthday and (where found to be qualifying or former 
relevant young people in accordance with s.23C(1), s.23CA(1) and s.24 of the 
Children Act 1989) transferring to the Council’s Leaving Care service but also 
as a result of the increased security at Calais.  The increased security restricted 
more individuals from being able to opportunistically and riskily access lorries 
crossing the channel, but potentially displaced points of entry to other parts of 
the UK.  Organised groups trafficking or smuggling children and adults into the 
country will source other routes into England. 

2. Where we are today: Corporate Parenting

2.1. The heightened numbers of new UASC arriving into Kent had previously 
created mounting pressure on available placements and staff capacity to meet 
statutory requirements for Children in Care; i.e. allocation to a social worker, 
completion of visits, Children and Families assessments, health assessments, 
dental checks and Looked After Child reviews etc.  As such, from November 
2015 (when numbers of children becoming looked after began to decrease), 
significant efforts were made to ensure that the Council was meeting “business 
as usual” standards for Children in Care.

2.2 The unprecedented number of UASC arriving over the course of 2015 resulted, 
at points, in up to 200 cases not being allocated to a social worker.  This 
problem has now been resolved, with all UASC cases allocated on a business 
as usual basis. 

2.3 The five Service for Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children’s (SUASC) 
teams have worked exceedingly hard, and the Council is now meeting the 
Children in Care statutory requirements for this cohort.  This has further been 
assisted by the district Children in Care teams accepting over 160 children and 
young people, so that caseloads continue to be more manageable.

2.4 During 2016, the number of overdue Looked After Children (LAC) Reviews has 
been managed down from over 600 to fewer than ten, and this number 
continues to decrease.  The number of overdue supervisions, visits and health 
assessments has also greatly improved.  This means teams are now able to 
move beyond compliance to quality work supporting this cohort of highly 
vulnerable LAC who may have witnessed or experienced violence or other 
traumatic events during their journey alone to the UK.

2.5 Despite challenges gaining funding for education provision targeted at this cohort 
of young people, academic settings in Kent continue to develop further study 
programmes around the county.  This is exemplified by Gillingham Football Trust 
and Kent Training & Apprenticeships; in addition to provision supplied by East 
Kent College. There have been significant challenges in sourcing enough 
educational opportunities for older teenagers.  Creatively utilising the generosity 
of local volunteers and charity provision, a structured programme of classes is 
available to young people living in the Appledore Reception Centre, with similar 
opportunities coming to the Millbank Reception Centre.  Through the combined 

Page 85



dedication of social workers, Virtual School Kent, Education’s Skills and 
Employability staff, colleagues in the voluntary sector and colleges, increasing 
numbers of children and young people will be accessing education from 
September 2016.  From young people’s records, it is clear how excited they are 
about this.

2.6 An increasing challenge and area of worry is the rising number of long-term 
missing children and young people.  A recent House of Lords Inquiry concluded 
more action should be taken (both across Europe and within the UK) in the face 
of rising numbers going missing.  It is known that certain cohorts of children are 
particularly vulnerable to trafficking, modern slavery and/ or exploitation. 

2.7 The Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s Services was interviewed for a 
BBC investigation in June 2016, where it was reaffirmed “if a young person 
decides they want to disappear, it’s very, very difficult for us to keep track of 
them”.

2.8 Council staff continue to work very closely with the Police, the DfE and the Home 
Office to ensure children at risk of absconding, or who are long-term missing, are 
clearly identified, in line with Kent Safeguarding Children Board (KSCB) Missing 
Children Procedures.

3. The Immigration Act 2016 and the National Transfer Scheme

3.1 A national dispersal scheme was announced on 21 April 2016 during a meeting 
of the Government’s EU Home Affairs Sub-Committee.  This is in line with the 
Immigration Act 2016 (Part 5).  The Immigration Act 2016 received Royal Assent 
on 12 May 2016; although different sections of the Act will come into force at 
different times.  It was made clear from the outset that participation from Local 
Authorities will remain voluntary, dependent on Local Authorities’ capacity and 
infrastructure to support any UASC who enter their care.  Section 72 of the 
Immigration Act 2016 does, however, enable the Secretary of State to require a 
Local Authority to cooperate if they are unwilling to do so, on a voluntary basis.

3.2 The Interim National Transfer Protocol for Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking 
Children 2016-17 became operational on 1 July 2016.  It is locally led by 
Regional Strategic Migration Partnerships; with the 33 London Boroughs initially 
being excluded. Due to the numbers of children presenting at Lunar House in 
Croydon and Heathrow in Hillingdon, London has a pre-established rota for 
ensuring each borough supports their fair proportion of children requiring a Local 
Authority’s care.  Outside of London, there are eight regions consisting of 119 
Local Authorities which could participate in the National Transfer Scheme (NTS). 

3.3 The announcement and launch of the NTS was welcomed by the Council, as 
having an equitable process for allocating children to Local Authorities, and will 
assist with ensuring children receive a responsive service, tailored to their 
individual needs and often highly traumatic experiences.  The NTS brings 
together not just the transfer and allocation of UASC identified within entry local 
authorities e.g. at the port or in lorry parks, but also the Government’s 
commitment to resettle 3000 vulnerable children at risk, currently outside the UK, 

Page 86

http://www.bbc.co.uk/programmes/p03yn4s5
http://www.kscb.org.uk/procedures/missing-children
http://www.kscb.org.uk/procedures/missing-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/534258/Interim_National_UASC_transfer_protocol.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/534258/Interim_National_UASC_transfer_protocol.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-scheme-launched-to-resettle-children-at-risk


in partnership with the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees 
(UNHCR).

3.4 In July 2015, the Corporate Director of Social Care, Health and Wellbeing had 
urgently requested help from other Local Authorities under Section 27(2) of the 
Children Act 1989 (see report to the Children’s Social Care and Health Cabinet 
Committee on 2 December 2015).  This request was repeatedly supported by the 
Home Office, Department for Education (DfE) and Department for Communities 
and Local Government (DCLG).  Prior to the NTS becoming operational on 1 July 
2016, 101 children and young people had been transferred from the Council’s 
care to the Corporate Parenting responsibility of 33 Local Authorities in England 
and one in Scotland.

3.5 The number of UASC each Local Authority should accept is based on 0.07% of 
their resident child population.  For instance, based on the Office for National 
Statistics, Mid-2014 Population Estimates, Kent has 328,250 children living within 
the county.  Under the NTS, Kent should therefore only be Looking After 230 
UASC.  An authority with a smaller resident population would be expected to 
Look After far fewer. 

3.6 In 2015-16 Kent received “enhanced” grant rates from the Home Office, as 
detailed in a joint letter from the Home Office, Department for Education and 
Department for Communities and Local Government, in November 2015.  These 
rates created a surplus on the Eligible under-18 cohort, but a similar shortfall on 
the Eligible 18 and older group.  The Council is awaiting formal confirmation that 
the surplus can be off-set against the shortfall.

3.7 The Council continues to incur costs supporting young people who do not meet 
the Home Office criteria for eligibility under the grant rules.  In 2015-16 the cost of 
these “Ineligible” young people was £1.5m.  Work is ongoing with the Home 
Office to address areas where children and young people are “Ineligible” for the 
grant, but still require Local Authority support and/ or accommodation.

3.8 Uncertainties arising from the introduction of NTS (highlighted elsewhere in this 
paper) have complicated financial forecasting for UASC, particularly in relation to 
the speed/capacity of transferring new arrivals, and the impact this will have on 
the Council’s current population of unaccompanied Looked After Children.

3.9 The Council’s Finance Team is currently working with the Home Office to revise 
the funding rates to reflect the impact that the introduction of the NTS will have 
on the Council’s costs.  The Home Office has confirmed that the 2015-16 rates 
will remain in place until any revised rates are agreed. 

3.10Whilst the NTS is in its infancy at the moment, and not all Regional Strategic 
Partnerships are fully signed up, it is anticipated more will come on board as the 
year progresses.  Governance processes for Local Authorities often mean that 
decision-making boards such as Cabinet and full Council meetings do not tend to 
sit during August. 

Page 87

https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=830&MId=5805&Ver=4


3.11Particular challenge comes for those Local Authorities who are not currently 
looking after any UASC, as they may not have the social work expertise, 
interpreter resources, English for Speakers of Other Language (ESOL) courses or 
Legal Aid representation available to best support children who are seeking or 
have been granted asylum.  A Freedom of Information request conducted by 
Community Care in January 2016, suggests at least 42 councils in England were, 
at the time, not supporting any UASC.

3.12This echoes findings from the House of Lords Inquiry into “Children in crisis: 
unaccompanied migrant children in the EU”, which was published on 26 July 
2016.  The Council contributed both written and oral evidence to the Inquiry.  The 
Inquiry found there continues to be too much regional variation with regards to 
Local Authority support for UASC, resulting in a small number of authorities 
supporting the greatest number of individuals.  The impact of this is that areas 
supporting a proportionately high number of children and young people must 
either stretch existing resource or try to increase infrastructure for mental health 
services, advocacy, accommodation, access to education, etc.  Regional variance 
in uptake is in part driven by where children and young people either present 
themselves or are intercepted by the Police or Home Office officials, but is also 
influenced by a paucity of available housing, foster carers and varying 
accommodation costs.

3.13Council staff are doing everything they can to cooperate with the Home Office and 
facilitate the transfer of children and young people to other Local Authorities. The 
Home Office’s current priority for the NTS is children who have been referred to 
the Council from 1 July 2016.  This ensures decisions are made in child-friendly 
timescales and children new to the UK quickly find somewhere where they are 
able to settle and recover.  It also means young people already in Kent who are 
starting education in September will not face further anxiety and disruption to their 
lives.

3.14The NTS has had a variable performance so far.  It is encouraging that, on the 
whole, the pace of transfer from Kent to a receiving Local Authority has been 
markedly more responsive than in the previous 12 months.  Not all Regional 
Strategic Partnerships and Local Authorities are signed up to the NTS yet, 
though, which means there are not always local authorities ready with the 
placement availability for children and young people.  Transfers are therefore 
taking varying lengths of time, from between three to five days to up to three 
weeks.

3.15 Due to the pace of transfers, the numbers of children and young people who 
have found permanence with Other Local Authorities changes weekly. 

Figures as of 07 September 2016:
 Since 1 July 2016 104 children have been referred to KCC
 51 children have transferred to the care of 25 Other English Local 

Authorities

Page 88

http://www.communitycare.co.uk/2016/01/13/huge-rise-child-refugee-population-leaves-many-councils-struggling-cope/
http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld201617/ldselect/ldeucom/34/3402.htm


4. Moving forwards

4.1 Whilst the Council is grateful for the efforts of its own staff, Home Office and DfE 
colleagues and other Local Authorities to progress National Transfer, it does not 
fully resolve the challenges facing Kent.  Senior officers, the Leader of the 
Council and the Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s Services continue to 
work very closely with central Government ministerial departments in order to 
resolve both ongoing and arising issues. 

4.2 The Council continues to look after and support over 780 children and young 
people, who entered its care before the NTS became operational on 1 July 2016. 
Whilst progress to date meeting the needs of both UASC in Care and former 
UASC leaving care, is a steadily improving picture, it means the Council 
continues to look after 550 children, more than 0.07% of our resident child 
population.  The position regarding whether national transfer will apply to this 
cohort remains unclear. The longer children are in the Council’s care, the more it 
is clear that moving a child or young person is not in their best interests and nor 
is it their wish, and risks disrupting their education, friendships and personal 
security.  

4.3 Care Leaving young adults are just as much a Local Authority’s Corporate 
Parenting responsibility as Looked After Children.  There is an ever increasing 
risk regarding the pressure on Kent’s Care Leaving Service.  Over 400 of the 
Council’s Children in Care, (who are seeking asylum or have been granted leave 
to remain) are aged 17.  The Council’s Care Leaving Service already supports 
over 570 former UASC; and during the next 12 months an additional 400 young 
people are set to transition in.  The NTS does not apply to 18+ young people who 
are Former Relevant or Qualifying Care Leavers. 

4.4 Currently, under the Children Act 1989, qualifying and former relevant young 
people can continue to access Local Authority support post-18 for up to seven 
years until they are 25, as long as they are in a programme of education or 
training.  The majority of young people, however, only tend to access support 
until they are 21 (e.g. to then pursue paid work).  The Children and Social Work 
Bill [HL] 2016-17, currently at the Committee Stage in the House of Lords, re-
establishes Corporate Parenting principles for English Local Authorities and 
proposes to extend duties to all Care Leavers up to the age of 25, regardless of 
the education/ training an individual is or is not accessing.

4.5 The Immigration Act 2016 made significant changes to Schedule 3 of the 
Nationality, Immigration and Asylum Act 2002.  As such, Care Leaving support 
under the Children Act 1989 (section 23C / 23CA) can be restricted in 
circumstances where an 18+ young person has been refused further leave to 
remain.  Young people who have never regularised their immigration status (for 
instance their claim is withdrawn), have been refused asylum outright (no right of 
appeal) and those who have exhausted their appeal rights (ARE) can be 
excluded from financial and accommodation assistance.  A Human Rights 
assessment is conducted, to assess whether there would be a breach of a care 
leaver's human rights or rights under EU treaties, if Local Authority support is 

Page 89

http://services.parliament.uk/bills/2016-17/childrenandsocialwork.html
http://services.parliament.uk/bills/2016-17/childrenandsocialwork.html


withdrawn.  Staff within the 18+ Care Leaving Service are working very hard to 
ensure assessments are conducted in a timely way, so as to alleviate uncertainty 
for young people and help them plan their future beyond the Council’s services.

4.6 The position regarding the transfer of significant numbers of ‘legacy’ children and 
young people in care (children who entered the Council’s care prior to 1 July 
2016) is not clear.  There is currently no confidence that this will happen, both as 
a result of Other Local Authority appetite and also, more importantly, as children 
and young people are becoming increasingly settled.  These children will 
therefore remain in the Council’s care until they reach their 18th birthday and 
transition to the Care Leaver service.

4.7 If every child referred to the Council from July 1 2016 onwards is able to find 
permanence with another Local Authority, and the Council has no new entrants 
into care, it will still take until February 2018 before the Council has 230 UASC 
Looked After.  As time goes on therefore, the challenge around how it is able to 
best support the vastly increased numbers of children and young people is not 
resolved, it is displaced.

5. Recommendations

5.1 Recommendations: The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to CONSIDER and 
COMMENT ON the information provided within this report.

6. Background Documents

None

7. Contact Details

Report author 
Emily Perkins
Executive Officer, West Kent, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 416566
Emily.Perkins@kent.gov.uk 

Lead officer
Sarah Hammond 
Assistant Director for West Kent and County Lead for UASC
03000 411488
Sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk

Lead Director
Philip Segurola 
Director of Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
Philip.Segurola@kent.gov.uk 

Page 90

mailto:Emily.Perkins@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Philip.Segurola@kent.gov.uk


By: Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health 
and Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 23 September 2016

Subject: PERFORMANCE SCORECARD FOR CHILDREN IN CARE

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions: All

Summary:

Recommendation:

The performance Scorecard for Children in Care identifies the key 
performance data and targets that need to be monitored in order to 
promote the best outcomes for children and young people looked 
after by Kent County Council. The latest performance Scorecard 
for July 2016 is attached to this report

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE 
and COMMENT ON the performance data in the Children in Care 
scorecard.

1. Introduction 

1.1 Performance scorecards have been developed within Specialist Children’s 
Services to identify and monitor progress on a range of areas where 
improvements in performance and practice will lead to better outcomes for 
children and young people.

1.2 The latest Children in Care Scorecard for July 2016 is attached as Appendix 
1.

2. Context

2.1 The Children in Care Scorecard has been developed to provide the Corporate 
Parenting Panel with a greater range of information to assist in understanding 
some of the factors impacting upon performance. 

2.2 The report is split into sections of measures and includes a range of 
performance indicators and activity information. 

2.4 The Children in Care Scorecard is currently focused on information provided by 
Specialist Children’s Services.  It is intended that performance reports from 
partners will also be shared so that performance issues can be further 

Page 91

Agenda Item B4



understood across organisations resulting in improved outcomes for children 
and young people.

3. Recommendations

3.1 Recommendations:  Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
NOTE and COMMENT ON the performance data in the Children in Care scorecard.

4. Background documents

None

5. Contact details

Lead Officer
Maureen Robinson
Management Information Service Manager
03000 417164
Maureen.Robinson@kent.gov.uk

Lead Director
Philip Segurola
Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 92

mailto:Maureen.Robinson@kent.gov.uk
mailto:philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk


Jul 2016

Publication Date: 06 September 2016
SC SCS Management Information

Kent Specialist Children's Services

Children in Care
Performance Report

Produced by

Page 93



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 06/09/2016 CIC Performance Report - July 2016 Page 2 of 7

Guidance Notes

The aim of this indicator is to achieve the highest number/percentage possible.

The aim of this indicator is to achieve the lowest number/percentage possible.

The aim of this indicator is to stay close to the target that has been set.

A red rating indicates that the current performance is signficantly away from the target set.

An amber rating indicates that the current performance is close to the target set.

A green rating indicates that the current performance has met the target that has been set.

Children in Care Numerator

Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children Denominator

Becoming Looked After Special Educational Need

Other Local Authority Initial Health Assessment

Year to Date (April to March) Qualified Social Worker

Rolling 12 Months Independent Review Officer

Snapshot Placement Order

Annual Special Guardianship Order

Academic Year to Date (Sept to Aug) M Monthly Figure

http://kccbusiness/sites/FSCMI/SitePages/Contact%20Us.aspx 

Direction of Travel

RAG Ratings

Polarity

T

L

H

G

A

R

No RAG Rating RAG ratings are not applied to activity based indicators. Also, if the denominator is 0 no RAG rating 
has been applied

To access the child level data underpinning the figures in this report or to request reports and/or analysis as a one off 
please log a request through the SCS Performance Management site:

Some of the performance indicators on the scorecard are measured using a Year to Date (YTD) approach - April to 
the end of the current month. For the first few months, it is advisable to treat the results of these indicators with a little 
caution as they are often based on a small cohort of children and therefore the percentages can be easily skewed.   

SGO

PO

Child Level Data and Ad hoc Requests

YTD Data

AC YTD

A

SS

A green arrow indicates that performance has improved this month when compared to last month. 
Depending on the polarity of the indicator, an improvement in performance could either be a 
reduction or increase in numbers/percentage.

Denom

NumCIC

UASC

Key To Abbreviations

A red arrow indicates that performance has worsened this month when compared to last month. 
Depending on the polarity of the indicator, a worsening in performance could either be a reduction 
or increase in numbers/percentage.

An amber arrow indicates that performance has remained the same as last month.

R12 IRO

QSW

BLA

IHA

SEN

OLA

YTD

Page 94

http://kccbusiness/sites/FSCMI/SitePages/Contact Us.aspx


Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 06/09/2016 CIC Performance Report - July 2016 Page 3 of 7

% of CIC Cases which were reviewed within required timescales H SS 98.2% G 2,154 2,193 98% 97.8% A 99.7% G
% of Children who participated at CIC Reviews H R12M 95.5% G 5,844 6,117 95% 95.4% G 97.9% G
% of CIC for 18mths and allocated to the same worker for the last 12 mths H SS 55.3% A 593 1,073 60% 55.6% A 56.2% A
CIC Placement stability: % with 3 or more placements in the last 12 months L SS 12.9% A 291 2,248 10% 13.0% A 12.2% A
CIC Placement stability: % in same placement for last 2 years H SS 71.6% G 411 574 70% 70.7% G 71.6% G
% of CIC Foster Care in KCC Foster Care/Rel & Friends placements (exc UASC) H SS 86.9% G 1,037 1,194 85% 87.1% G 86.9% G
% of CIC placed within 20 miles from home (exc UASC) H SS 80.6% G 1,126 1,397 80% 81.1% G 80.6% G

CIC Per 10,000 population aged under 18 (exc UASC) SS 44.1 1,447    328,300 44.3 44.1
Number of Kent CIC SS 2,248 2,298 1,454
Number of OLA CIC placed in Kent L SS 1,260 1,257
% becoming looked after within 24 months of previous episode L YTD 12.5% 35 279 10.4% 19.7%
% Open to Youth Offending Services L SS 2.0% 46 2,248 2.0% 2.9%
% in residential placements (P&V and KCC Residential) L SS 6.8% 152 2,248 6% 7.1% 5.2%
% of Kent CIC Placed Outside of Kent (exc Medway) L SS 9.2% 206        2,248 9.3% 5.2%
% of Kent CIC Placed Outside of Kent (inc Medway) L SS 17.7% 397 2,248 17.9% 10.2%

% of CIC who have had a PEP updated in the last 6 months (ages 5-16) H SS 74.4% A 1,075 1,444 80% 80.3% G 83.2% G

No. permanently excluded L AC YTD 14 14 14
No. on a part-time timetable (June 2016 data) L M 42 77 -
% looked after continuously for 12 months with an SEN Statement/EHCP L SS 42.4% 590 1,391 45.1% 54.8%

% of IHA referrals within 5 working days of becoming looked after H R12M 42.8% R 527 1,230 90% 37.7% A 63.5% R
% of Initial Health Assessments taking place within 20 working days H R12M 27.3% R 363 1,328 90% 24.4% R 45.1% R
% of Health assessments held within required timescale H SS 88.1% A 1,758 1,996 90% 85.4% A 93.5% G
% of Dental Checks held within required timescale H SS 94.3% G 1,882 1,996 90% 94.5% G 95.3% G

SDQ Average of Questionnaires Completed Since 1st April (for Current LAC) L YTD 13.5 4,262 315 12.4 14.1

% of cases adoption agreed as plan within 4 mths, for those with an agency decision H R12M 69.4% A 68 98 75% 68.0% A - -
Ave. no of days between bla and moving in with adoptive family (for children adopted) L R12M 413.3 G 33,888 82 426.0 452.9 A - -
Ave. no of days between court authority to place a child and the decision on a match L R12M 177.5 A 13,848 78 121.0 199.7 A - -
% of Children leaving care who were adopted (exc UASC) H R12M 13.0% A 82 631 13.0% 13.6% G 13.0% A

% where: 8 weeks from 'adoption being made the Care Plan' to 'Agency Decision to adopt' H R12M 69% 68 98 67% - -
% of sibling groups that were placed together H R12M 94% 16 17 94% - -
Number of LAC with ADM who are not placed L SS 3% 61 2,248 3% - -
% who ceased to be Looked After who became subject to a SGO H R12M 4.0% 47 1,177 4.2% - -
% who ceased to be Looked After who became subject to a SGO (exc. UASC) H R12M 6.9% 44 641 4.3% - -

Number CIC with Missing Episode started in the month L M 107 46 48
Number of CIC missing episodes started in the month lasting longer than 48 hours H M 23 30 12

Care Leavers in suitable accommodation (of those we are in touch with) H R12M 92.6% G 1,007 1,087 90% 92.4% G 91.7% G
Care Leavers in employment, education or training (of those we are in touch with) H R12M 58.7% A 638 1,087 65% 57.9% A 52.8% R
% of Care Leavers with a Pathway Plan updated in the last 6 months H R12M 93.5% G 1,001 1,071 90% 94.3% G 93.2% G
% of Care Leavers we are in contact with H R12M 67.5% A 1,068 1,582 75% 66.3% A 74.6% A

% of CIC team posts filled by KCC Permanent QSW (exc Fostering & Adoption) H SS 79.4% A 96.0 120.9 83% 78.2% A - -
Ave Caseloads of social workers in CIC Teams (District Teams Only) L SS 16.1 A 1,792 111.2 15.0 16.1 A - -
Ave Caseloads of IROs L SS 68.1 G 2,248 33.0 70.0 64.7 G 49.9 G

Indicator

Po
la

rit
y

Data 
Period

Latest Result and 
RAG Status

Num Denom

Scorecard

Target for 
16-17

Last month's result 
and RAG Status

Excluding UASC

Children

Education

Health & Wellbeing

Adoption: Lead

Care Leavers

Staffing

Missing Children

Page 95



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 06/09/2016 CIC Performance Report - July 2016 Page 4 of 7

Referrals

Trend Graphs

* Data between Sep 2013 and Mar 2014 is not available as reporting was suspended due to the implementation of a new system.

** An exercise was undertaken to re-open closed cases with care leaver status in 2016 reporting year, therefore, these figures do show an increase. July's figures are provisional.

1,000

1,050

1,100

1,150

1,200

1,250

1,300

1,350

1,400

Jul
11

Oct
11

Jan
12

Apr
12

Jul
12

Oct
12

Jan
13

Apr
13

Jul
13

Oct
13

Jan
14

Apr
14

Jul
14

Oct
14

Jan
15

Apr
15

Jul
15

Oct
15

Jan
16

Apr
16

Jul
16

OLA LAC in Kent over the last 5 years 

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

Jul
11

Oct
11

Jan
12

Apr
12

Jul
12

Oct
12

Jan
13

Apr
13

Jul
13

Oct
13

Jan
14

Apr
14

Jul
14

Oct
14

Jan
15

Apr
15

Jul
15

Oct
15

Jan
16

Apr
16

Jul
16

% of CIC with 3+ placements in 12 months over the last 
5 years* 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

Jul
11

Oct
11

Jan
12

Apr
12

Jul
12

Oct
12

Jan
13

Apr
13

Jul
13

Oct
13

Jan
14

Apr
14

Jul
14

Oct
14

Jan
15

Apr
15

Jul
15

Oct
15

Jan
16

Apr
16

Jul
16

LAC over the last 5 years UASC
Citizen

920

940

960

980

1,000

1,020

1,040

1,060

1,080

1,100

1,120

Jul
11

Oct
11

Jan
12

Apr
12

Jul
12

Oct
12

Jan
13

Apr
13

Jul
13

Oct
13

Jan
14

Apr
14

Jul
14

Oct
14

Jan
15

Apr
15

Jul
15

Oct
15

Jan
16

Apr
16

Jul
16

LAC placed in KCC Foster Care over the last 5 years 

0

50

100

150

200

250

Aug
13

Oct
13

Dec
13

Feb
14

Apr
14

Jun
14

Aug
14

Oct
14

Dec
14

Feb
15

Apr
15

Jun
15

Aug
15

Oct
15

Dec
15

Feb
16

Apr
16

Jun
16

CIC Placed Outside Kent (exc Medway) 
over the last 3 years 

UASC

Citizen

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

Apr
14

Jun
14

Aug
14

Oct
14

Dec
14

Feb
15

Apr
15

Jun
15

Aug
15

Oct
15

Dec
15

Feb
16

Apr
16

Jun
16

% Leaving Care SGO

Adoption

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

Apr
15

May
15

Jun
15

Jul
15

Aug
15

Sep
15

Oct
15

Nov
15

Dec
15

Jan
16

Feb
16

Mar
16

Apr
16

May
16

Jun
16

Jul
16

Care Leavers** UASC

Citizen

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

Aug
13

Oct
13

Dec
13

Feb
14

Apr
14

Jun
14

Aug
14

Oct
14

Dec
14

Feb
15

Apr
15

Jun
15

Aug
15

Oct
15

Dec
15

Feb
16

Apr
16

Jun
16

CIC Placed Outside Kent (inc Medway) 
over the last 3 years 

UASC

Citizen

Page 96



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 06/09/2016 CIC Performance Report - July 2016 Page 5 of 7

Education Data Trend Graphs

10.6% 
9.7% 9.4% 

7.7% 7.7% 

4.2% 

6.5% 6.4% 

3%

5%

7%

9%

11%

13%

15%

17%

19%

2008/09 2009/10 2010/10 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

% of children looked after who are classed as persistent absentees 

RAG - Green Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Red Zone

Kent Latest Stat Neighbour Ave 5.0% Latest National Ave 4.7%

17.3% 17.2% 
18.1% 

16.3% 
15.2% 

14.1% 
13.6% 

3%

5%

7%

9%

11%

13%

15%

17%

19%

2008/09 2009/10 2010/10 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

% of Children who have been continuously looked after for twelve 
months with at least one fixed term exclusion from school 

RAG - Green Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Red Zone

Kent Latest Stat Neighbour Ave 10.0% Latest National Ave 9.8%

50.0% 
53.0% 

46.0% 

54.0% 

61.0% 
65.0% 

74.0% 

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

2009/10 2010/10 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

% CIC reaching Level 4 in Reading at Key Stage 2 

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone
Kent Latest Stat Neighbour - 62.9% Latest National - 71.0%

38.0% 39.0% 

32.0% 

46.0% 46.0% 
44.0% 

46.0% 

59.0% 

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

2009/10 2010/10 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

% CIC reaching Level 4 in Writing at Key Stage 2 

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone

Kent Latest Stat Neighbour Ave - 54.4% Latest National Ave - 59.0%

32.0% 32.0% 

58.0% 

48.0% 

42.0% 

52.0% 

57.0% 

67.0% 

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

2008/09 2009/10 2010/10 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

% CIC reaching Level 4 in Maths at Key Stage 2 

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone

Kent Latest Stat Neighbour - 54.6% Latest National - 64.0%

8.5% 
9.5% 

6.2% 

11.0% 

15.3% 14.8% 

13.0% 

14.7% 

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

18%

20%

2008/09 2009/10 2010/10 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

% CIC achieving 5+ A* to C at GCSE (inc. English & Maths) 

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone

Kent Latest Stat Neighbour Ave - 16.2% Latest National Ave - 15.9%

Page 97



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 06/09/2016 CIC Performance Report - July 2016 Page 6 of 7

Definition

Aug 15 Sep 15 Oct 15 Nov 15 Dec 15 Jan 16 Feb 16 Mar 16 Apr 16 May 16 Jun 16 Jul 16 Ave

+7.0% +9.7% +16.6% +17.4% +17.0% +18.5% +19.3% +19.7% +18.9% +19.9% +22.0% +20.6% +17.2%

% of IHA referrals within 5 working days of becoming looked after

Theme Health & Wellbeing

5 Year trend graph (Aug 11 - Jul 16) Last 12 months

PID Reference
Current RAG Red - 42.8%

K27

This performance measure relates to the notification to the Health Service for an Initial Health Assessment within 5 
working days for children and young people who have become looked after.

Performance against this measure had been poor during 2015/16, due to a combination of process and incomplete 
recording of data. This measure has therefore been included as a new performance measure into the Scorecards to 
ensure that referrals to Health are made in a timely and consistent manner.

The performance rate of 42.8% relates to a rolling 12 months average. This has been significantly affected by the 
volume of UASC arrivals in 2015. The implementation of new business processes, and the monitoring of compliance 
across operational teams, has significantly improved more recent performance. The rolling 3 months average (May-
July 2016) shows performance as being 78.7%.

Commentary

Of those Children in Care becoming looked after (BLA) in the period, the percentage of those whose 
referral to Health for their Initial Health Assessment was made by Kent Specialist Children’s Services 
within 5 working days of BLA date.

Number of children whose Initial Health Assessment Referral was requested more than 5 working days after their period of 
care started by age and legal status

% Difference between exc. 
and inc. UASC

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent exc. UASC Kent inc. UASC

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

10 2 

190 

401 

52 
21 

23 

4 

0
50

100
150
200
250
300
350
400
450

0-4Yrs 5-9Yrs 10-15Yrs 16+Yrs

In Care Accommodated

123 68 
158 178 

62 
23 

213 

405 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

0-4Yrs 5-9Yrs 10-15Yrs 16+Yrs

Outside Timescale Within Timescale

Page 98



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 06/09/2016 CIC Performance Report - July 2016 Page 7 of 7

Definition

Aug 15 Sep 15 Oct 15 Nov 15 Dec 15 Jan 16 Feb 16 Mar 16 Apr 16 May 16 Jun 16 Jul 16 Ave

+3.7% +4.8% +10.2% +8.6% +6.3% +6.8% +4.1% +3.5% +0.7% +4.3% +4.5% +2.2% +5.0%

PID Reference K27 Of the Children in Care who became looked after and therefore whose Initial Health Assessment was 
due in the period, the percentage of those whose Initial Health Assessment took place within 20 
working days of the date they became looked after.Current RAG Red - 42.8%

The initial health assessment notification was put in place to monitor the new business processes to ensure health 
and social care were working to complete timely initial health assessments.  The early (within 5 days) notification by 
children’s social care to health, aids the timely completion of the health assessments.
This remains an indicator that requires joint work between health and social care to ensure that the timely 
completion of initial health assessment is in place.  The Assistant Director for Corporate Parenting regularly meets 
with health colleagues to ensure that the good progress that has been made, is maintained and there is continued 
improvement in the monthly return.  The improvements are reflected in the increase in the completion of health 
assessments in June of 85.4%  to 88.1% in July 2016.

% of Initial Health Assessments taking place within 20 working days

Theme Health & Wellbeing

Last 12 months

% Difference between exc. 
and inc. UASC

Number of children whose Initial Health Assessment took place more than 20 working days after their period of care started 
by age and legal status

Commentary

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent exc. UASC Kent inc. UASC

65 33 38 5 

24 
5 

289 
506 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

0-4Yrs 5-9Yrs 10-15Yrs 16+Yrs

In Care Accommodated

95 55 75 138 
89 

38 

327 

511 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

0-4Yrs 5-9Yrs 10-15Yrs 16+Yrs

Outside Timescale Within Timescale

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	A3 Minutes of the meeting of this Panel held on 20 July 2016
	B1 Fostering Service Independent Review
	B1 Appendix 1 - Fostering Service Independent Review
	B1 Appendix 2 - Fostering Service Business Plan

	B2 Kent Adoption Service - Annual Report 2015/2016
	B2 Appendix 1 - Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 2015 - 2016

	B3 Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children update
	B4 Performance Scorecard for Children in Care
	B4 Appendix - CIC Performance Report - July 2016
	Title Page
	Guidance Notes
	Scorecard
	Trend Graphs
	Education Graphs
	IHA Ref
	Initial HA



